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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Honorable Mayor and
Members of Council

City of Easton

Easton, Pennsylvania 18042

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund information, and the general
and debt service funds budgetary comparison statements of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents. We did not audit the financial statements of the City of Easton Redevelopment
Authority or the Easton Housing Authority. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report has not
been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included of the City of Easton Redevelopment
Authority and Easton Housing Authority, would be based on the report of other auditors.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and mainienance of
internal control refevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our andit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with anditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position
of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major
fund, and the apgregate remaining fund information of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania, as of December 31, 2017, and the
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Required Supplementary Information

Accounting prineiples generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion and analysis
on pages 3-15, and schedules of changes in Net Pension Liability, City contributions and Funding Progress on pages 80-88 be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements,
is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financiat reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consist of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquires, the basic financials statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial staterents that collectively comprise the City of
Easton, Pennsylvania's basic financial statements The accompanying supplementary information, such as Capital Projects and
Non-major Funds, are presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The combining and individual non-major fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and were derived from
and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
combining and individual non-major fund financial statements are fairly presented in all material respects in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated Sepiember 28, 2018, on our
consideration of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's internal control over financiat reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of law, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matter. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and
not 1o provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

Easton, Pennsylvania
September 28, 2018
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

CITY OF EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTRODUCTION

This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) presents a narrative overview and analysis
of the financial activities of the City of Easton (City) for the year ended December 31, 2017. We
recommend that it be read in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements and
notes to financial statements in order to obtain a thorough understanding of the City’s financial
condition as of December 31, 2017. This discussion focuses on the City’s primary government.
Component units, unless otherwise noted, are not included in this discussion.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Within the City-wide financial statements the governmental net position increased by $338,508
after current changes in net position.

The City’s overall financial position, as reflected in total net position, dramatically declined in the
prior year as a result of GASB 68, which required governmental entities to recognize unfunded
Pension liabitities. The Statement and its component statement No. 67 have a massive impact on
all governments entity wide statements. It affects every government in the Commonwealth of PA
and every other government located in all 50 states, including state governments.

In 2017, the City continued its strong financial performance within the fund financial statements
which highlight this performance. For your convenience and information, the management of the
City provides these financial highlights and executive summary:

o Twelveth Consecutive General Fund Surplus — The City is pleased to report its twelveth
consecutive General Fund surplus (fiscal year 2006 through fiscal year 2017). The City’s
surplus from operating activities was $296,234 in 2017. The City administration did not
have a necessity to appropriate from the fund balance an amount of funds as a funding
source for the 2018 budget.

e Adopted Fund Balance Policy — In December 2011, the City Council adopted a financial
policy to achieve certain fund balances by December 2016. In 2017, the City has
continued its efforts to meet these minimum levels. Specifically:

1) Minimum General Fund Balance — Set “at a minimum of 10% of budgeted
general fund revenues” by 2017 or $3.54 million using the 2017 budget for
reference. As of December 31, 2017, the City had a General Fund unassigned
balance of $5.29 million, which is above the minimum goal of the target date
year of 2017,

2) Minimum Health Care Fund Balance — Achieve “Should maintain a balance of
$3.00 million” by year end 2017, as of December 31, 2017, the Health Care Fund
had a balance of $.15 million. The City of Easton is considering an assignment of
$257,455 of the General Fund surplus, in addition to budgeted allocations for the
year 2018, bringing the balance up to $.41M, or 14% of the minimum goal. The
City is seeing better than anticipated claims experience which should also
positively impact this Fund.
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3) Minimum Liability and Casualty Fund Balance —“Should maintain a balance of
$1.00 million” by 2017 As of December 31, 2017, the City had a Liability and
Casualty Fund balance of $.961 million, which is 96% of the minimum goal. The
City of Easton is considering an assignment of $38,779 of the General Fund
surplus, in addition to budgeted allocations for the year 2018, bringing the
balance up to $1M, or 100% of the minimum goal,

These highlights are detailed in the information provided below.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This report consists of four parts:
¢ Management’s discussion and analysis (this section)
e Basic financial statements (including notes)
¢ Required supplementary information
¢ Supplementary information

Management’s discussion and analysis is a guide to reading the financial statements and provides
related information to help the reader to better understand City government. The basic financial
statements include notes that provide additional information essential to a full understanding of
the financial data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. Required
supplementary information is provided on the City’s pension and other post-employment benefit
plans and budget-to-actual figures for the General Fund and other budgeted major funds. In
addition to these required elements, an optional supplementary section is included with other
statements that provide particulars about minor funds.

The basic financial statements present two different views of the City.
s Government-wide Financial Statements — The first two statements provide a broad
overview of the City’s overall financial status as well as the financial status of the City’s
component units, in a manner similar to private-sector business.

o  Fund Financial Statements — The remaining statements focus on individual parts of City
government. They provide more detail on operations than the government-wide
statements. There are three types of fund financial statements;

1) Government Funds Statements show how general government services such as
public safety were financed in the short term, as well as what remains for future
spending.

2) Proprietary Funds Siatements offer short-term and long-term financial
information about the activities the City operates like a business.

3) Fiduciary Funds Statements reflect activities involving resources that are held by
the City as a trustee or agent for the benefit of others, including the City’s
retirement plans. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide
statements because the resources cannot be used to support the City’s programs.
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Table A-1 summarizes the major features of the City’s financial statements, including the area of
the City’s activities they cover and the types of information they contain.

Table A-1: Major features of the government-wide and fund financial statements

Government-wide

Fund Financial Statements

Statements
Governmental Business-type Fiduciary
Scope Entire entity and The day-to-day The business-type | Instances in which
component vnits operating activities | activities of the the City
(except fiduciary of the City, such as | City administers
funds) public safety and resources on behalf
public works of others, such as
the employee
pension plans
Required e Statement of Net | o Balance sheet e Statement of Net |  Statement of
financial Position « Statement of Position Fiduciary Net
statements e Statement of Revenues, s Statement of Position
Activities Expenditures, Revenues, s Statement of
and Changes in Expenses and Changes in
Fund Balance Changes in Net Fiductary Net
Position Position
e Statement of
Cash Flows
Accounting Accrual accounting | Modified accrual Accrual accounting | Accrual accounting
basis and and economic accounting and and economic and economic
measurement resources focus current financial resources focus resources focus
focus resources
measurement focus
Type of asset All assets and Current assets and | All assets and All assets and
and liability lighilities, both liabilities that come | liabilities, both liabilities, both
information financial and due during the year | financial and financial and
capital, short-term ot soon thereafter; | capital, short-term | capital, short-term
and long-term no capital assets or | and long-term and long-term;
long-term funds do not
liabilities included confain capital
assets, although
they can
Types of inflow | All revenues and Revenues for All revenues and Al additions and
and outflow expenses during which cash is expenses during deductions during
information year, regardless of | received during the | year, regardless of | the year, regardless

when cash is
received or paid

year or soon
thereafter;
expenditures when
goods or services
have been received
and the related
lizbility is due and
payable

when cash is
received or paid

of when cash is
received or paid
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The remainder of this overview explains the structure and contents of the government-wide and
fund financial statements.

Government-wide financial statements

Government-wide financial statements report information about the City as a whole using
accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies.

* The Statement of Net Position includes all of the City’s assets and liabilities, except
fiduciary funds, with the difference between the two reported as net position. This
statement serves a purpose similar to that of the balance sheet of a private-sector
business.

* The Statement of Activities focuses on how the City’s net position changed during the
year. Because it separates program revenue (revenue generated by specific programs
through charges for services, grants, and contributions) from general revenue (revenue
provided by taxes and other sources not related to a particular program), it shows to what
extent each program has had to rely on local taxes for funding.

All changes to net position are recorded using the accrual method of accounting, which requires
that revenues are recorded when they are earned and expenses are recorded when the goods
and/or services are received, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Net position is one way to measure the City’s financial position. Over time, increases or
decreases in the City’s net position are one indicator of whether the City’s financial position is
improving or deteriorating. However, other non-financial factors such as changes in the City’s
real property tax base and general economic conditions must be considered to assess the overall
position of the City.

The primary government and its components units are included in the government-wide financial
statements. Component units reflect the activities of legally separate government entities over
which the City can exercise influence and/or be obligated to provide financial support. The City
has three discretely presented component units including the Easton Suburban Water Authority,
the Easton Parking Authority, and the Easton Municipal Authority. Two additional component
units, the Easton Redevelopment Authority and the Easton Housing Authority, are not presented
in the financial statements.

There are two categories of activities for the primary government.

»  Governmental activities include the City’s basic services such as general government,
public safety, community development, public works, health and sanitation, parks and
recreation. Property & earned income taxes and operating grants & revenues finance
most of these activities.

» Business-type activities generally charge a fee to customers to help cover the cost of
services.

Net position of the governmental activities differ from the governmental fund balances because
governmental fund level statements only report transactions using or providing current financial
resources. Capital assets are reported as expenditures when financial resources (monies) are
extended to purchase or build assets in the fund financial statements. Likewise, the financial
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resources that may have been borrowed are considered revenue when they are received in the
fund financial statements. Principal and interest payments are both considered expenditures when
paid in the fund financial statements. Depreciation is not calculated as it does not provide or
reduce current financial resources in the fund financial statements. '

Government-wide statements are reported using an economic resources measurement focus and

full accrual basis of accounting that involves the following steps to format the Statement of Net
Position:

e Capitalize current outlays for capital assets
¢ Report long-term debt as a liability
* Depreciate capital assets and allocated the depreciation to the proper program/activities

e Calculate revenue and expense using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting

e Allocate net position balances as follows:
o Net investment in capital assets

o Restricted net position are those net assets with constraints placed on their use by
external sources (creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
governments) or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation

o Unrestricted net position are net assets that do not meet any of the above
restrictions.

Fund financial statements

Fund financial statements provide more detailed information on the City’s most significant funds,
not the City as a whole. Funds are accounting devices, i.e., a group of related accounts that the
City uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending for particular purposes. Some
funds are required by state law. Other funds are established to control and manage resources
designated for specific purposes. Governmental fund financial statements are reported using
current financial resources and modified accrual accounting established by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) for governments.

The City has three kinds of funds:

e Governmental funds include most of the City’s basic services and focus on: (1) the flow
in and out of cash and other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash and (2)
the balances left at year-end that are available for spending. The twenty governmental
funds that the City maintains are reported using the modified accrual accounting basis,
and a current financial resources measurement focus. Consequently, the governmental
funds statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps determine the financial
resources available in the near future to finance the City’s programs. The primary
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governmental funds are General, Debt Service, Liquid Fuels, Capital & Bond, and State
Grants.

The relationship between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net
Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is described in a
reconciliation that follows the governmental fund financial statements.

Proprietary funds report business-type programs and activities that charge fees designed
to cover the cost of providing services. They report using the full accrual basis of
accounting.

Fiduciary funds are funds for which the City is the trustee or fiduciary. The City is
responsible to ensure the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended
purposes. This fiduciary activity is reported in a separate statement of fiduciary net assets
and a statement of changes in fiduciary net assets. These funds are excluded from the
City’s government-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to
finance its operations.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The City’s total assets and deferred outflow of resources were $95.68 million at December 31,
2017. Of this amount, $63.43 million was capital assets, including infrastructure and construction
in progress. Prior to the adoption of GASB No. 34 in 2003, infrastructure (roads, bridges, etc.)
had not been reported or depreciated in governmental financial statements.

GASB No. 34 required that all capital assets, including infrastructure, be valued and reported
within the governmental activities column of the govemment-wide financial statements, but
allowed infrastructure to be added over several years. The City believes it has included all
infrastructure in the 2017 financial statements.
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Table A-2: Condensed Statement of Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Current Assets $16,735,543  $24,076,649 $683,345 $687,978  $17,418,888  $24,764,627
Capital assets, net 49947239 63,430,606 - - 49947239 63,430,606
Deferred Qutflow
of Resources 4,257,934 7,487,003 - - 4,257,934 7,487,003
Total Assets/
Defered Outflows 70,940,716 94,994,258 683,345 687,978 71,624,061 95,682,236
Current and other 7325013 10,855.461 . - 7,062,603 10,855 461
liabilities
Non-current 86,625,081  103,377453 - - 86,625,081 103,377,453
liabilities
Deferred Inflow of 715,069 4,147,283 . - 715,069 4,147,283
Resources
Total
Liabilities/Deferred 94,665,163 118,380,197 637,590 642,223 95,302,753 118,380,197
Inflows
Net position: Net
Investment in
capital assets 17,094,104 16,060,619 . - 17,094,104 16,060,619
Restricted net 3906487 8,100,941 ; ; 3,906,487 8,100,941
assets
:]s‘sgfjm"‘ed net (44,725,038)  (47,547,499) 45,755 45755  (44,679283) (47,501,744)
Total net position (23,724,447)  (23.385,930) 45,755 45,755 (23.678.692) (23,340,184)
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Table A-3: Changes in net position

The following statement of activities represents changes in net assets for the year ended
December 31, 2017, Tt shows revenues by source and expenses by function for governmental

activities, business-type activities and the government as a whole.

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017
Program revenues:
Charges for services  $15,067,882 $13,257,903 $5,095,832 $5,281,087  $20,163,714  $20,538,990
Operating gramnts
and conteibutions 5,454,769 6,184,263 82,384 93,617 5,537,153 6,277,880
Capital grants 2,296,351 1,703,551 - - 2,296,351 1,703,551
General revenues:
Taxes 18,636,471 18,822,412 - - 18,636,471 18,822,412
Interest earnings 25,047 33,756 - - 25,047 33,756
Misc. revenues 422312 197,895 - - 422,312 197,895
Total 41,902,832 42,199,780 5,178,216 5,374,704 47,081,048 47,574,484
revenues
Expenses:
General government 8,060,433 8,277,075 - - 8,060,433 8,277,075
Public safety 18,872,987 19,778,218 - - 18,872,987 19,778,218
Health & Welfare 116,832 114,395 - - 116,832 114,395
DPW — Sanitation 4,965,228 5,116,764 - - 4,965,228 3,116,764
DPW — Highways 2,553,714 2,747,637 - - 2,553,714 2,747,637
Other Public Works 470,954 410,807 - - 470,954 410,807
Culture — Recreation 2,119,925 2,157,127 - - 2,119,925 2,157,127
Community 1,710,803 1,512,611 - - L710803 1512611
Development
Debt Service 1,954,749 1,970,974 - - 1,954,749 1,970,974
Sewage Treatment - - 5,005,583 5,210,138 5,005,583 3,210,138
Total 40,825,625 42,085,608 5,005,583 5,210,138 45,831,208 47,295,746
expenses
Change in net
position before
ransfers/special 1,077,207 114,172 172,633 164,566 1,249,840 278,738
Transfers 172,633 164,566 (172,633) (164,566} - -
Sale of Assets 1,446 39,770 - - 1,446 39,770
Capital State Grants
for Capital Value 1,464,883 . . - 1,464,383 -
Increase
Change in 2,716,169 338,508 . - 2716169 338,508
net position
Net position, (26,440,616) (23,724,447) 45,755 45,755 (26,394,861) (23,678,692)
beginning
?neéiﬁ‘g’s““’“’ (23,724,447) (23,385,939} 45,755 45,755  (23,678,692) (23,340,184)

Total government-wide revenues of $47.63 million came primarily from taxes, charges for

services and grants of $47.34 million representing 99.41% of the total.

10
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Total expenses for all programs in 2017 were $47.30 miltion. The expenses cover a range of
services, with the largest two being public safety at $19.78 million or 42% and general
government at $8.28 million or 18%.

Capital Assets

The City’s investment in capital assets at December 31, 2017, net of accumulated depreciation,
was $63.43 million. Capital assets consist primarily of land, site improvements, buildings and
improvements, machinery & equipment, infrastructure, water treatment plant, and construction in

progress. Table A-4 is a summary of capital assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2017.

Table A-4: Capital assets at December 31, 2016 and 2017

Governmental Activities

2016 2017
Land (Not Depreciated) $7,672,373 $13,648,117
Site Improvements 183,727 172,462
Buildings & Improvements 31,102,013 38,355,080
Machinery & Equipment 2,973,118 3,473,731
Infrastructure 1,741,716 1,918,731
Water Treatment Plant 6,274,292 5,862,485
Total Capital Assets
(net of depreciation) 49,047,239 63,430,606

The change in capital assets was significant between 2016 and 2017, Most of that change is
related to the buildings and improvements of the new Easton City Hall and Transportation Center
placed into operation during the year 2017 and major costs including design related to the
sanitation and road systems.

Long-term Debt

At December 31, 2017, the City had $64.61 million of debt outstanding, including bonds, notes,
and master lease purchase agreements. This was a net increase of $13.71 million from the
previous year, Other obligations include post-employment benefits, accrued vacation pay and sick
leave and the net pension liability. Total other obligations were $41.62 million at December 31,
2016 and $41.93 million at December 31, 2017.

Additional information en the City’s long-term debt can be found in the disclosures to the
financial statements on page 49.

11
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Table A-5: Summary of outstanding debt

Governmental Activities

2016 2017
Pension Debt Obligations
Bond Series of 2007 $9,729,000 $8,925,000
Bond Series A of 2015 8,320,000 8,315,000
Capital Debt Obligations
Bond Series of 2011 4,885,000 -
Note Series of 2015 (Lafayette Ambassador
Bank) 2,837,727 -
Taxable Note of 2014 524,435 451,263
Bond Series of 2013 16,900,000 16,875,000
Series B of 2015 685,000 605,000
Series C of 2015 3,855,000 3,765,000
Series A of 2017 - 12,755,000
Series B of 2017 - 1,530,000
Series C of 2017 - 2,355,000
Series D of 2017 - 6,500,000
Other Debt Obligations
Master Lease Purchase Agreement 2009 534,628 451,564
EMA Note Series of 2014 Quakertown
National Bank 2,191,600 1,662,000
Lease Purchase Agreement 2015 Fulton Bank 245,000 177,135
Lease Purchase Agreement 2015 TCF 100,714 34,064
Lease Purchase Agreement 2016 TCF 94,631 47,990
Lease Purchase Agreement 2017 TCF - 160,971
Total Outstanding Debt $50,902.135 $64,609,987
Bond Rating

As a part of the 2017 GO Bond Issue, the City of Easton had its credit rating reviewed by S&P
Rating Services. Citing continued strong financial management practices, Easton’s credit rating is

A+,

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The City of Easton uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-

related legal requirements.

The focus of government funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, cutflows, and
balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing
requiremnents. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City’s
net resources available for spending at the end of the year. Governmental fund accounting was
not affected by the adoption of GASB No. 34. Therefore, a schedule is presented to reconcile the

fund statements to the government-wide statements.

The City’s governmental funds include the general fund, debt service fund, capital and bond
funds, state grants fund, and other governmental (minor) funds. The general fund is the chief
operating fund for the City. The debt service fund is used to record the funding and payment of

12
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principal and interest on the issuance of debt in the governmental funds. The capital projects
funds account for the proceeds of bond issues, note issues, and extraordinary revenue used to
fund short-term capital needs. The major funds are shown on the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance in the financial statements.

Total Governmental fund revenues

Governmental fund revenues by source for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017 were as
follows. Table A-6 also presents changes from 2016 to 2017.

Table A-6: Revenues by source, total governmental funds

Changes from Percent
2016 2017 2016 to 2017 change

Revenues:

Taxes $18.641,150 $18,751,051 $109,901 1
Licenses 491,510 522,941 31,431 6
Fines & Forfeits 1,055,839 975,526 {80,313) N
Interest & Rents 1,662,724 1,779,724 117,000 7
Intergovernmental 9,216,003 7,887,814 (1,328,189 (14)
Charges for Services 11,937,244 12,130,755 193,511 2
Miscellaneous 422312 197,895 (224,417 (53)

Total revenues $43,426,782 $42,245,706 $(1,181,076)

Governmental fund revenues totaled $42.25 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, This
is a (decrease) from 2016, primarily due to moderate increases in taxes, intergovernmental and
charges for services resulting from a decrease in grant funding of $1,100,000 and other
governmental sources of $200,000.

Governmental fund expenditures

Governmental fund expenditures by function for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017
were as follows. Table A-7 also presents changes from 2016 to 2017.

Table A-7: Expenditures by function, total governmental funds

Changes from Percent
2016 2017 2016 t0 2017 change
Expenses:
General Government $8,341,433 $7,335.272 $(1,006,161) (12)
Public Safety 18,383,872 27,662,353 9,278,481 50
Health & Welfare 116,832 114,395 (2,437 )
DPW — Sanitation 5,400,161 5,213,603 (186,558) 3)
DPW — Roads 2,872,675 2,801,698 (70,977) (2)
DPW — Other 408,044 348,996 (59,048) (14)
Culture — Recreation 1,918,246 1,909,880 (8,366) -
Urban Development 1,714,501 7,543,510 5,829,009 339
Debt Service 4,898,305 8,582,217 3,683,912 75
Total expenses 44,054,069 61,511,924 17,457,855
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City of Easton, Pennsylvania
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Governmental fund expenditures totaled $61.51 million for the year ended December 31, 2017,
an increase of 39.62% from 2016. The increase in 2017 expenditures is largely explained by the
increase capital costs incurred with the construction of the new Police Headquarters Building,
acquisition of land, purchase of fire truck and capitalization of refunding debt.

Governmental fund balances and proprietary/internal net assets

Table A-8 reflects ending balances for governmental funds and net assets for proprietary funds at
December 31, 2017 and 2016,

Table A-8: Ending fund balances, governmental funds
Net assets, proprietary/internal funds

2016 2017
Governmental  Proprietary/internal  Governmental Proprietary/internal
funds funds funds funds

General $5,287,128 - $5,583,362 -

Debt Service 119,375 - 106,574 -

Capital Projects 392,028 - 4,381,669 -

State Grants 2,505,824 - 2,510,644 -

Other 829,635 . 819,994 .
Governmental

Health - $171,830 - $155,648

Insurance - 1,135,986 - 961,221

Unemployment - 73,840 - 01,759

Sewer - 45,755 - 45,755

Total $9,133,990 $1,427.411 13,402,243 1,254,383

The City’s governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $13.40 million at December
31, 2017. The City’s proprietary/internal funds reported a combined fund balance of $1.25
million at December 31, 2017,

In 2017, $5.58 million (or 41.66%) of all governmental fund balances was recorded as
unassigned. The balance sheet for government funds provides a breakdown for all fund balances
as required by GASB 54.

Budgetary highlights

The Easton City Council approves the operating budgets for the general fund and several other
funds as required by City Charter and City ordinance. According to City charter, the expense
budget may be changed in one of two ways. First, the budget may be changed via administrative
transfer between specific line items from other line items or from contingency funds established
in the budget. Second, new appropriations are budgeted when received (via City ordinance) and
the anticipated related expense is budgeted at the same time.

Because the City is on a different fiscal year than the Commonwealth and the Federal
government, it is difficult to know what grants will be forthcoming in the City’s fiscal year. Some
revenue variances are due to budgeting for grants not received. Other revenue variances are based
on grants received but not anticipated. Otherwise, actual results were relatively close to budget
amounts, which is consistent with the City’s current conservative budgeting philosophy.
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City of Easton, Pennsylvania
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Collective Bargaining Issues

During the course of 2017, multi-year agreements were negotiated with two of the three labor
unions: Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) Lodge 17 and American Federation of State County
and Municipal Employees Local 447; the City and International Association of Fire Fighters
(IAFF) Local 713 are in arbitration at the time of this report with a decision expected in late
2018. The new FOP Lodge 17 contract ends on December 31, 2020. The contract with
AFSCME Local 447 was also renegotiated in 2017 and the new contract ends on December
31, 2021. The expired contract with IAFF Local 713 ended on December 31, 2016.

Economic Condition and Outlook

The vision of Easton's future growth and prosperity is built upon its proud history as a
cultural, commercial, industrial, and transportation hub. Easton is now poised as a destination
for tourists, artists, investors, residents and retail, restaurant, and service businesses. With over
27,000 residents within a region of 540,000, Easton is a full service working community that
maintains industrial areas with light manufacturing, distribution and warehousing, a vibrant
downtown, and residential neighborhoods.

Home to the Crayola Experience, National Canal Museum, Northampton County Historical
and Genealogical Museum, and the State Theatre, Easton welcomes over 500,000 visitors
annually. Easton offers superior accessibility, enticing small-town ambiance, town to gown
connections with the prestigious Lafayette College plus the new addition of Northampton
Community College, and diverse culture and various historic attractions. Businesses affiliated
with the arts will find Easton in the midst of resurgence in the fine, industrial and creative arts.
An active and growing artist community is complemented by galleries displaying nationaily
known as well as local artists' work. Much of the revitalization of Easton's Downtown can be
attributed to the success of the many festivals and events that are supported by the City and
the Greater Easton Development Authority. The combination of these events and diverse
restaurant scene has created a welcoming environment into evenings during the week and
weekends.

The City of Easton has invested significant dollars in public funding to spur economic growth
and activity from the private sector. These public dollars ($70M) has leveraged over $500M
of private sector investment and stimulus to the City. While the private sector has done a
significant amount of investing, including the recently announced addition of Hearst
Publishing to a long unutilized space downtown, the public sector continues to support the
City’s growth and to that end, has recently committed to the development of a $150M science
center. Adding this to the Crayola Experience and other unique outdoor and family based
attractions, Easton will continue to grow as the playground for not only the residents of
Easton, but the broader Lehigh Valley and New Jersey.

Requests for Information
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional
financial information and complete financial staterents for the discretely presented

component units should be addressed to the City Administrator, City of Easton, 123 South
Third Street, Easton, Pennsylvania, 18042,
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CITY OF EASTON
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER, 31, 2017

Primary Governmens
Goversmentzl Business-Type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 14,500,588 £ 687,578 $ 15,188,366 $ 3,989,063
Investments - - - 1,233,588
Taxes Receivable (net) 3,278,565 - 3,278,565 -
Due From Other Govemnments 3,458,667 - 3,458,667 4,513
Other Receivables 2,529,841 - 2,529,841 2,903,121
Prepaid [tems - - - 86,449
Inveatory - - - 247,916
Other Assets 308,988 - 308,988 -
Fotal Current Assets 24,076,649 687,078 24,764,627 9,074,650
Noa-Current Assets:
Lease Agreement net of amortization - - - 560,000
Capital Assets not being depreciated:
Land, Easements 13,648,117 - 13,648,117 498,075
Capital Assets net of accumulated depreciation:
Site Improvements 172,462 - 172,462 -
Buildings and Building Improvements 38,355,080 - 38,355,080 2,774,615
Machinery and Equipment 3,473,731 - 3,473,731 2,079,950
Infrastructure 1,918,731 - 1,918,731 81,157,665
Water Treatment Plant 5,862,485 - 5,862,485 17,636,368
Total Non-Current Asscis 63,430,606 - 63,430,606 104,726,673
Total Assets $ 87507255 £ 687,578 $ 88,155,233 3 113,801,323
Deferred Outflow of Resources:
Current Year Coniributions PMRS 446,855 - 446,855 -
Difference between Projected and Achzal
Investment Earnings on Pension Plan 1,994,356 - 1,994,356 -
Difference between Expected and Actual
Experieace Pensions 362,736 - 562,736 -
Change in Assumptions 4,191,055 - 4,191,055 -
Deferted Charges on Refundings 292,001 - 292,001 -
Total Assets and Deferred Qutflow of Resotrces $ 94,994 258 $ 687,978 $ 95,682,236 $ 113,801,323
Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable ' § 6,977,981 3 107,347 3 7085328 M &17,773
Payroll Withholdings 58,278 - 58,278 -
Internal Balances (191,107) 191,107 - .
Current Portden of Debt 3,170,054 130,105 3,300,159 2,615,745
Accrued Salaries and Benefits 87,989 2,012 90,001 150,278
Other Current Liabilities 417,524 211,652 629,176 865,989
Accrued Interest Payable 334,742 - 334,742 72,892
Total Current Eiabilities 10,855,461 642,223 11,497,684 3,722,677
Non-Current !iabilities:
Bonds Payable 59,722,009 - 59,722,009 26,281,171
Capital Leases 1,717,924 - 1,717,924 -
Compensated Absences 2,134,202 . 2,134,202 -
Other Post-Employment Benefits 1,542,065 - 7,542,065 -
Net Pension Liability 32,261,253 - 32,261,253 -
Total Non-Current Ligbilities 103,377,453 - 103,377,453 25,281,171
Total Liabilities 114,232,914 042,223 114,875,137 33,003,848
Deferred Inflow of Resources:
Changg in Assumptions 222,938 - 222,938 -
Difference between Projected and Actual
Investment Earnings on Pension Plans 3,201,567 - 3,201,507 -
Difference between Expected and Actual
Experience Pensions 722,838 - 722,838 -
Tetal Liabilities and Deferred Inflow of Rescurces $ 118,330,157 3 642,223 $ 119,022 420 § 33,003,848
Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets 16,060,619 - 16,060,61% 13,367,507
Restricted for Acquisition of Capital Assets 4,381,669 - 4,381,669 -
Restricted for State and Federal Provisions 2,510,644 - 2,510,644 -
Restricted for Insuzance 1,208,628 - 1,208,628 -
Unrestricted (Deficit) {47,547,499) 45,755 (47,503,744} 7.429,968
‘Fotal Net Position {23,385,939) 45 755 {23,340.184) 80,797,475
Total Liahilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources
and Net Position $ 94,594,258 $ 687,978 § 95682,236 $ 113,801,323

The notes 1o the financial statements are an integral part of this staternent.
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CITY OF EASTON
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2017

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position (page 16} are different because:
Total fund balances - governmental funds (page 18)

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are
not reported as assets in governmental funds. The cost of the assets is $92,721,507 and the
accumulated depreciation is $29,290,291.

Property taxes, utility charges, and earmed income taxes receivable will be collected this
ye<ar, but are not available soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures and,
therefore, are deferred in the governmental funds.

Internal Service Funds are used to charge the costs of certain activities, such as insurance.
The net position has been included in governmental activities.

This represents deferred Outflow of Resources resuliing in deferred charges on refunding
bend issues.

Deferred Outflow of Resources related to pensions are applicable to future periods
therefore are not reported in the funds.
Current year pension contributions to PMRS
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings on
Pension Plan Investments
Difference between expected and actual experience
Change in Assumptions

Deferred Inflow of Resources related to pensions and debt are applicable to future periods,

therefore, are not reported in the funds.
Difference between expected and actual experience
Difference between expected and actual investment earnings on Pension Plan Investments
Change in Assumptions

Liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported as liabilities in the governmental funds. Those liabilities at year-
end consist of:

Lease, Pension, Capital Debt Principal Payable 64,609,987
Accrued Interest Expense 334,742
Compensated Absences 2,134,202
Post Employment Benefits 7,542,065
Net Pension Liability 32,261,253

$ 13,402,243

63,430,606

2,115,113
1,208,628
292,001

446,853

1,994,356
562,736
4,191,055

{722,838)
(3,201,507)
{222,938)

{106,882,249)

Total Net Position - Governmental Activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

8 (23.3859%9)
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CITY OF EASTON
RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities (page 17) are different because:

Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (page 20) $ 4,268,253

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures. However, in the statement
of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as
depreciation expenses. This is the amount by which depreciation expense {$1,835,105) is less
than capital outlays $15,318,472 in the period. 13,483,367

Repayment of current bond and lease principal are expenditures in the governmental funds, but
the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Poskion. 6,764,556

Refunding bond issues becomes a use of current financial resources in governmental funds, but
refundings represent payments of long-term debt in the statement of net position. This figure
represents the annual amortization of the difference between refunding bond proceeds and the
refunding payments made to paying agents. (24,333)

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmentat funds,
however has no effect on increasing Net Position. (23,310,135)

The net effect of changes in pension deferred outflows, deferred inflows and net Hability
utilized in the determination of pension expense reported on governmental activities column of
government-wide financial statements to pension contributions reported as expenditures in
governmental funds. 257,399

Because some property taxes, utility charges, and earned income taxes will not be collected for
several months after the City's year end, they are not considered "available revenues” and are
deferred in the governmental funds. Deferred tax revenues and utility charges decreased by
this amount this year. (45,928)

In the statement of activitics, certain operating expenses (compensated absences) are measured
by the amounts earned during the year. In the governmental funds, however, expenditures for
these ifems are measured by the amount of financial resources used (essentially the amounts
actually paid). Vacation and sick leave earned decreased by this amount this year. 7,576

In the statement of activities, certain operating expenses (other post-employment benefits) are
measured by the amounts earned during the year. In the governmental funds, however,
expenditures for these items are measured by the amount of financial resources used
{essentially the amounts actually paid). Other post-employment benefits increased by this
amount this year. {760,241)

Interest on long-term debt in the statement of activities differs from the amount reported in the
governmental funds because interest is recognized as an expenditure in the funds when it is
due and, therefore, requires the use of current financial resources. In the statement of
activities, however, interest expenses is recognized as the interest accrues, regardless of when
it is due. Accrued interest payable on bonds increased by this amount this year. (128,978)

Internal Service Funds are used to charge the costs of certain activities, such as insurance. The

{decrease} in net position has been allocated within governmental activities. (173,028)
Change iﬁ Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 338,508

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EASTON

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2017

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash Received from Governmental Entities
Participant Contributions
Cash Received from Funds Allocations
Payments for Sewage Treatment Operations
Payments for Insurance and Claims

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities
Refunds of Prior Year Expenditures
Other Revenues (Expenses)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Non-Capital Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest on Cash Equivalents

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by (Used for)
Operating Activities:

Operating Income
Adjustments to Operating Income o Net Cash Provided
by Operating Activities:
(Increase) Decrease Due from Other Funds
(Increase) Decrease Intergovernmental Receivables
Increase (Decrease) Compensated Absences
Increase (Decrease) Current Liabilities
Total Adjustments

Net Cash Provided by/{Used for) Operating Activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Business-type Governmental
Activities Activitics
Enterprise Fund
Sewage Treatment Intemal Service
Fund Funds
b3 6,031,714 $ -
- 732,354
- 4,036,958
(5,205,503) .
. (4,442,996)
826,211 326,316
- 10,365
{164,566) {29,848)
(164,566) (19,483)
- 509
661,045 307,342
26,333 206,921
3 687,978 b 514,263
$ 164,566  $  (154,054)
3,092 (663,732)
657,012 -
(2,905) -
4,446 1,144,102
661,645 480,370
3 826,211 3 326,316
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CITY OF EASTON
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31. 2017

Aggregated Private-Purpose
Pension Fund Trust Fund Agency Fund
Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 3 1,002,649 3 69,818 b 34,214
Investments at Fair Value:
Fixed Income Securities 12,367,428 - -
Corporate Stocks 11,060,697 - -
Mutual Funds 26,767,367 2,708,674 -
Real Estate Fund 1,100,446 - -
Accrued Interest Receivable 95,882 - -
Other Receivables 64,618 - -
Total Assets 3 52,463,087 3 2,778,492 3 34,214
Lighilities
Escrow Payable $ - 3 - $ 34,214
Accounts Payable 6,905 - -
Loan Payable - 596,189 -
Total Liabilities 6,905 596,189 34214
Net Position
Net Position in Trust for Pension Benefits and
and Other Purposes 3 52,456,182 $ 2,182,303

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



CITY OF EASTON
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2017

Agpregated Private-Purpose
Pension Fund Trust Fund
Additions
Contributions:
Employer £ 4,847,653 $ -
Plan Members 543,398 -
Other Sources 178,538 -
Total Contributions 5,569,589 -
Investment Earnings:
Interest and Dividends 1,583,482 283,737
Net Increase in Fair Value of Investments 5,189,983 86,729
Total Investment Earnings 6,773,465 370,466
Less: Investment Expense (207,674) (14,226)
Net Investment Earnings 6,565,791 356,240
Total Net Additions 12,135,380 356,240
Deductions
Benefits and Other Distributions 4,645,896 -
Administrative Expenses 31,355 139,661
Loan Interest Expense - 27,163
Intergovernmental Transfer to City of Easton Grant Fund - 150,000
Total Deductions 4,677,251 336,824
Changes in Net Position 7,458,129 19416
Net Position - Beginning 44,998,053 2,163,887
Net Position - Ending $ 52,456,182 $ 2,183,303

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



CITY OF EASTON
GENERAL FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

Budgeted Amounts
Variance with
Final Budget
Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)
Revenues;
Taxes $ 15,051,932 $ 15,026,542 $ 14,686,551 b (339,991)
Licenses and Permits 383,000 383,000 522,941 139,941
Fines and Forfeits 1,112,500 1,067,500 975,526 (91,974)
Interest and Rents 1,664,693 1,664,693 1,654,454 (10,239)
Intergovernmental 4,835,544 4,867,544 4,683,049 (184,495)
Charges for Service 12,173,380 12,186,380 11,730,528 (455,852)
Miscellaneous 214,500 214,500 189,570 (24,930)
Total Revenues 35,435,549 35,410,159 34,442,619 (967,540)
Expenditures;
General Government 6,566,108 6,909,050 6,576,996 332,054
Public Safety 18,657,244 18,790,941 18,559,032 231,909
Health and Welfare 116,388 116,263 114,395 1,868
Public Works - Sanitation 5,151,786 5,235,015 5,066,199 168,816
Public Works - Roads 1,804,767 1,766,929 1,680,734 86,195
Public Works - Other 364,087 392,445 342,810 49,635
Urban Development 614,248 605,010 563,418 41,592
Total Expenditures 33,274,628 33,815,653 32,903,584 912,069
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures 2,160,921 1,594,506 1,539,035 (55,471)
Budgetary Reserve (566,415) - - -
1,594,506 1,594,506 1,539,035 (55,471)
Other Financing Sources {Uses)
Transfers In - - 351,705 331,705
Transfers (Qut) (1,594,506) (1,594,506) (1,594,506) -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,594,506) (1,594,506) (1,242,801) 351,705
Net Change in Fund Balance - - 296,234 256,234
Fund Balance - Beginning 5,287,128 5,287,128 5,287,128 -
Fund Balance - Ending § 5287128 $ 5,287,128 $ 5583362 5 296,234

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



CITY OF EASTON
DEBT SERVICE FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES. EXPENDITURES. AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

Budgeted Amounts
Variance with
Final Budget
Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes - Allocated from Levy £ 2997244 $ 2997244 $ 2,997.244 5 -
Local Governmental Contribution - - 7,275 7,275
Total Revenues 2,997,244 2,997,244 3,004,519 7,275
Expenditures:
Debt Service Principal 2,902,099 2,947,101 2,947,101 -
Debt Service Interest 1,926,615 1,917,568 1,916,568 1,000
Fiscal Agent Fees 4,500 3,500 1,060 2,500
Total Expenditures 4,833,214 4,868,169 4,864,669 3,500
(Deficiency) of Revenues over
Expenditures (1,835,970) (1,870,925) (1,860,150) 10,775
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 1,835,970 1,835,970 1,847,349 11,379
Transfers Out - - - -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1.835,970 1,835,970 1,847,349 11,379
Net Change in Fund Balance - (34,955) (12,801) 22,154
Fund Balance - Beginning 119,375 119,375 119,375 -
Fund Balance - Ending 5 119,375 $ 84,420 8 106,574 $ 22,154

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



CITY OF EASTON
RECREATION FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES. EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2017

Budgeted Amounts
Variance with
Final Budget
Original Final Actual Positive {(Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes - Allocated from Levy $ 1,067,275 $ 1,092,665 $ 1,067,255 $ (25,410)
Intergovernmental 43,746 43,746 43,746 -
Recreational Charges 113,750 143,232 117,520 (25,712}
Hugh Moore Park 121,959 121,959 119,746 (2,213)
Total Revenues 1,346,730 1,401,602 1,348,267 {53,335)
Expenditures:
Parks 767,303 725,598 697,460 28,138
Recreation 323,764 365,296 346,865 18,431
Hugh Moore Park 255,663 238,151 223,067 15,084
Total Expenditures 1,346,730 1,329,045 1,267,392 61,653
Excess of Revenues over
Expenditures - 72,557 80,873 8,318
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In - - - -
Transfers Qut - {76,899} {76,899) -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) - {76,899} {76,899} -
Net Change in Fund Balance - (4,342) 3,976 8,318
Fund Balance - Beginning 152,370 152,370 152,370 -
Fund Balance - Ending $ 152,370 $ 148,028 § 156,346 3 8,318

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAT STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Easton is a primary governmental entity whose operational procedures are defined by Third Class
City Code enacted by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The City functions as council members and mayor
chosen in a general election, and is considered to be fiscally independent.

The financial statements of City of Easton (the City) have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units, The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the authoritative standard-setting body for the establishment of governmental accounting and financiat
reporting principles.

Reporting Entity

The reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units, and other organizations that are
included to insure that the financial statements of the City are not misleading, The primary government consists of
all funds, departments, boards, and agencies that are not legally separate from the City. For the City of Easton this
includes general operations, public safety, highways, public works, and recreational activities.

The City of Easton is a municipal corporation governed by an elected seven member City Council. As required
by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements are for the City of Easton (primary
government) and organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable. The City is financially
accountable for an organization if the City appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing board and (1)
the City is able to significantly influence the programs or services performed or provided by the organization; or (2)
the City is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization's resources; the City is legally obligated or
has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance the deficits of, or provide financial support to, the organization;
or the City is obligated for the debt of the organization. Component units may also include organizations that are
financially dependent on the City in that the City approves the budget, the issnance of debt, or the levying of taxes.

Following is a brief description of each component unit meeting the above criteria and as a result included within
the financial reporting entity, a description of each component unit’s retationship with the City of Easton, and a

discussion of how component unit information has been incorporated into the financial statements:

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Faston Suburban Water Authority - The Authority is responsible for providing water service to surrounding
municipalities and contributing to the funding for the construction of the water treatment plant. All of the voting
mernbers of the Authority are appointed by the City of Easton. Authority assets leased under the January 1, 2007
Operating Agreement would be transferable to the City upon termination of the Agreement on January 1, 2032, The
condensed financial information presented utilizes the “Government-Wide” Financial Statement presentation as it
pertains to a single proprietary operation entity for the year ended December 31, 2017 and is presented as a discrete
component unit.

Easton Parking Authority - All veting members of the Board are appointed by the City of Easton. The City is in
some manner obligated to provide financial support of the Authority. The condensed financial information
presented utilizes the “Government-Wide” Financial Statement presentation as it pertains to a single proprietary
aperation entity for the year ended December 31, 2017 and is presented as a discrete component unit.

Housing Authority of the City of Easton - The Authority was created by a resolution of the City of Easton. It
was organized as a public housing Authority as defined by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, The Authority’s
Board of Commissioners is a five-member board appointed by the City of Easton. The Authority provides for
significant housing opportunities within the boundary limits of the City of Easton under the supervision of HUD,
The Authority’s information would be disclosed if the December 31, 2017 audit report had been available at the
date of the City’s financial statements.
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES (Cont'd.)

CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017

Easton Easton
Suburban Parking
Water Authority Authority Total
ASSETS
Current Assets $ 8,967,892 $ 16,758 $ 9,074,650
Non-current Assets 104,332,794 393,879 104,726,673
Total Assets $ 113,300,686 $ 500,637 $ 113,801,323
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities $ 3,661,705 $ 60,972 $ 3,722,677
Non-current, Long Term Debt 28,818,821 462,350 29,281,171
Total Liabilities 32,480,526 523,322 33,003,848
NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 72,973,628 393,879 73,367,507
Usnrestricted 7,846,532 (416,564) 7,429,968
Total Net Position 80,820,160 (22,685) 80,797,475
Total Net Position and Liabilities $ 113,300,686 $ 500,637 $ 113,801,323
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NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TQ FINANCIAT, STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES (Cont'd.)

CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
AS OF DECEMBER 31. 2017

Easton Easton
Suburban Parking
Water Authority Authority Total
Operating Revenues
Parking Garage Revenues $ - $ 1,284,314 $ 1,284,314
Water System Revenues 14,850,310 - 14,850,310
Total Operating Revenue 14,850,310 1,284,314 16,134,624
Operating Expenses
Parking related administrative and direct operating - 337,461 337,461
Water system related administrative
and direct operating 9,031,603 - 9,031,603
Depreciation 3,133,896 82,585 3,216,481
Total Operating Expenses 12,165,499 420,046 12,585,545
Net Operating Income 2,684,811 864,268 3,549,079
Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) (579,224) {913,154) (1,492,378)
Change in Net Position 2,105,587 (48,886) 2,056,701
Capital Value Provided by Developers 1,673,530 - 1,675,530
Beginning Net Position 77,039,043 26,201 77,065,244
Ending Net Position $ 80,820,160 4 (22,685) $ 80797475

GOVERNMENTAL-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Easton Municipal Authority - The Easton Municipal Authority filed articles of incorporation with the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania on July 19, 2003.

In 2010, a Guaranteed Lease Revenue Note was signed with TD Bank to provide funds for 2 legal settlement.
The City sold the main fire station to the Easton Municipal Authority and entered into a Lease Agreement for the
full payment of principal and interest on the Note. The City and Authority refinanced the 2010 Note in the year
2014, and entered into a 2014 Note with Quakertown National Bank and is presented as a blended component unit.

Easton Redevelopment Authority - The Redevelopment Authority is responsible for administering various grants
whtich the City of Easton is the Grantee. All voting members of the Authority board are appointed by the City of
Easton and the City can modify or determine Authority programs and budgets. The Authority’s information would
be disclosed if the December 31, 2017 audit report had been available at the date of the City’s financial statements.
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2017

NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

GOVERNMENTAL-TYPE ACTIVITIES (Cont'd.)

CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - CASH BASIS
GOVERNMENTAL -TYPE COMPONENT UNIT
AS OF DECEMBER 31. 2017

Easton Municipal

Authority
Assets
Future Lease Rental from Primary Gov'i - City of Easton $ 1,662,000
Liabilities
Note Payable 1,662,000
Net Position sy -
CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED STATEMENT QF CASH RECEIPTS, DISBURSEMENTS
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
GOVERNMENTAL -TYPE COMPONENT UNIT
AS OF DECEMBER 31,2017
Easton Municipal
Authority
Receipts
Lease Payments from Primary Gov't - City of Easton 3 571,383
Total Receipts 571,383
Disbursements
Note Payments:
Interest Payments 42 383
Principal Payment 529,000
Tuotal Disbursements 571,383

Change in Fund Balance -

Cash Basis Fund Balance - Beginning -

Cash Basis Fund Balance - Ending $ -

Joint Ventures
Easton Area Joint Sewer Authority

The City is a participating member of the Easton Area Joint Sewer Authority (EAJSA). The EAJSA is run by a
governing joint board consisting of twelve members from participating municipalities. The EAJSA joint board
approves an annual operating budget and each participating municipality pays a pro-rated share of operating costs
based upon proportional water flow amounts into the sewer plant and capital interest percentages of plant facilities.
The City's contribution 1o the EAJSA during the calendar year 2017 covering operating and debt service costs was
$2,545,887. Complete financial statements of the EAJSA can be obtained from the EAJSA administration office at
50-A Scuth Delaware Drive, Easton, PA.
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NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

SUMMARY OF SIGNTFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Joint Ventures {Cont'd.)

Easton Area Joint Sewer Authority

Service Agreement

The Sewage Treatment Service Agreement, dated as of April 1, 1988, as amended (the "Service Agreement")
between the Authority and the City, the Boroughs of Tatamy, West Easton and Wilson and the Townships of Forks
and Palmer (the "Participating Municipalities”) governs the provision of bulk sewage treatment service by the
Authority, prescribes the allocation among the Participating Municipalities of treatment capacity in the plant, the
adoption of Authority budgets, payment of bitls, compliance with laws, rules and regulations, the adoption by each
Participating Municipality of an annual budget, the setting of sewer rates and charges by the Authority Board, and
the payment of all amounts due by Participating Municipalities without suspension notwithstanding distribution or
other failure of plant operations.

Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements:

The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting government as a
whote, They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. The statements distinguish between
governmental and business-type activities. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, inter-
governmental revenues, and other non-exchange revenues. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part
be fees charged to external parties for goods or services. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipients of
the goods or services offered by the programs and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Internal activity is timited to interfund transfers which
arc eliminated to avoid “doubling up” revenues and expenses. Net position is reported as restricted when
constraints placed on net position use are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants,
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments) or imposed by law through constitutional
provisions or ¢nabling legislation,

Fund Financial Statements:

Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be
separate accounting entities. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of seif-balancing accounts that
constitute its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditure/expenses. Funds are organized into three
major categories: governmental, proprictary, and fiduciary. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the
governmental and proprietary categories. Each major fund is presented in a single column on the governmental fund
financial statements.

I. GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS:

These are the funds through which most government functions are furnished. The funds of the financial
reperting entity are described below:

a. General Fund - Accounts for all furnished resources except those required to be accounted
for in other funds. The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City and always
classified as a major fund.

b. Debt Service Fund - Used to account for accumulation of resouwrces for, and payment of,
general long-term debt principal and interest and is classified as a major fund.
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

L.

GOVERNMENTAT FUNDS: (Cont'd.)

C. Special Revenue Funds - Used to account for proceeds of specific revenue sources (other
than special assessments or major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures
for specified purposes. Individual funds comprise this generic group and are presented in the
non-major group.

d. Capital Reserve and Bond Funds - Used to account for the financial resources to be used for
acquisition, construction or imprevement or major capital facilities and infrastructure.

PROPRIETARY FUND:

Accounts for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business
enterprises. These activities are financed primarily by user charges and the measurement of financial
activities focuses on net income.

Enterprise Funds - The City has leased all Water system facilities to the Easton Suburban Water
Authority. As a result of the leasing arrangement, the net asset value previously reported in a Water
Fund has been transferred to the Governmental Activities of the City.

Classified as an Enterprise Fund is the Sewage Treatment Plant Management Fund whereby the City of
Easton cperates the sewage treatment plant and charges the operational costs to the Easton Area Joint
Sewer Authority.

Internal Service Funds - Internal Service Funds are used to account for operations that provide services
to other departments of the government on a cost reimbursement basis. The City maintains a Health
Benefits Fund, Liability Insurance Fund and Unemployment Insurance Fund which receives fund
transfers from the General, Sewage Management and Recreation Funds for the costs of health, liability
and unemployment insurances.

FIRDUCIARY FUNDS: (Not included in government-wide statements)

Accounts for assets held by a governmental unit in a trustee capacity or as an agent for other funds:

a. Private Purpose Trusts - Account for the revenues and the expenditures of the Hugh Moore
Park Charitable Trust.
b. Employee Pension Fund Trust Funds - Used to account for assets held by the City in a

trustee capacity for the future payment of retirement payments to employees.
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NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

Measurement focus is a term used to describe “which” transactions are recorded within the various financial

statements. Basis of accounting refers to “when” transactions are recorded regardless of the measurement focus
applied.

On the government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, both governmental and
business-type activities are presented using the economic resources measurement focus as defined in item b. below.

In the fund financial statements, the “current financial resources™ measurement focus or the “economic resources”
measurement focus is used as appropriate:

a. All governmental funds utilize a “current financial resources” measurement focus. Only current
financial assets and liabilities are generally included on their balance sheets. Their operating statements
present sources and uses of available spendable financial resources during a given period. These funds
use fund balance as their measure of available spendable financial resources at the end of the period.

b. The proprietary fund utilizes and “economic resources™ measurement focus. The accounting objectives
of this measurement focus are the determination of operating income, changes in net position {or cost
recavery), financial position, and cash flows. All assets and liabilities (whether current or non-current)
associated with their activities are reported. Proprietary fund equity is classified as net position.

c. Agency funds are not involved in the measurement of resulis of operations; therefore, measurement
focus is not applicable to them.

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, both governmental and business-
type activities are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues
are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred or economic asset used.
Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are
recognized when the exchange takes place.

In the Fund Financial Statements, Governmental Funds and Agency funds are presented on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Under this modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when “measurable
and available.” Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the amount. Available means
collectible within the current period or within sixty days after year end. Expenditures (including capital outlay) are
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest which
are reported when due,
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PQLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Cont'd.)

All Proprietary Funds utilize the accruat basis of accounting except the Internal Service Funds, which utilize the
modified accrual basis. The Internal Service Funds manage the health, liability, and unemployment insurance costs
related to governmental-type funds have been included in the net assets of total Governmental-Type Funds, Under
the accrua! basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability
is incurred or economic asset used.

These Funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the
Proprietary Fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the City's Proprietary Fund are
sewage ireatment charges. Operating expenses for the City's Proprietary Fund include sewage treatment costs,
supplies, and administrative costs. All revenues or expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses.

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989 are followed in
both the entity wide and Proprietary Fund financial statements to the extent that those standards do not conflict with
or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Governments also have the option of
following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities and proprietary funds, subject to this
same limitation. The City has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

To improve cash management, all cash received by the City is pooled under Act 72 of the Pennsylvania General
Assembly of 1971. Monies for all funds, including proprietary funds, are maintained in this pool. Individual fund
integrity is maintained throughout the City's records.

The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and shori-term
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition or available if required for
current operation or debt service.

Investments
Investments are reported at fair value, except for repurchase agreements and nonnegotiable certificates of deposit

which are reported at cost. Fair value is based on quoted market prices. Mutual funds are reported at current share
price. The fair value of the City's position in pooled investments is the same as the value of the pooled shares.
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NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Contd.)

Taxes, Other and Intercovernmental Receivables

Taxes Receivable -

General Fund -
Real Estate Taxes
Per Capita Taxes
Earned Income and Real Estate Transfer Taxes
Total Taxes Receivable

Other Receivables -

Genera] Fund -
Utility Billings for Sewage and Refuse
Other Current Receivables - Local Sources
Total Other Receivables

Intereovernmental Receivables -

General Fund -

Local Governmental Sources
Major Grant Funds -

Grants anticipated from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Capital Project Funds -

Funds due from Hugh Moore Park Trust

Total Intergovernmental Receivables

5 911,187
559,926
1,807,452

$ 3,278,565

% 1,927,801
602,040

5 250841

376,200

2,811,769

270,698

$ 3,438,667
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Acgounting (Cont'd.)

Property Taxes

Based upon assessed valuations by Northampton County, the City's real estate valuation for taxation purposes
was $357,336,900, the City's Department of Finance bilis and coliects the City's property taxes. The schedule for

property taxes levied for year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:

The municipal tax rate for ali purposes in 2017 was 24.950 Mills,

General Purposes 13.213
Debt Purposes ' 8.655
Recreational Purposes 3.082

Total Tax Rate 24.950 Mills
Prior to March 6 2% discount period
March 7 to May 6 Base payment period
After May 6 Penalty period

Reconciliation of assessed 2017 Real Estate Taxes:

Taxes Levied based upon adjusted assessment £ 8,896,286
Add: Penalties 73,577
Less: Discounts {120,023)
Cash Collections and Discounts (8,436,272)
Uncollected Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 413,568

Prepaid Items and Inventories

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded and prepaid

items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

All inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. The costs for inventories of

governmental activities are recorded as expenditures at the time individual inventory items are purchased.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Cont'd.)

Capital Assets

Capital Assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets, are reported in the
applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial
statements. Capital assets are defined by the "Property Accounting Ledger Report" provided by the City's
independent appraisal firm as assets which an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful
life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical costs at fime of purchase or construction. Major
outlays for capital asset and improvement projects are capitatized as constructed, inclusive of ancillary costs.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the
assets' lives are not capitalized.

Land is not depreciated. Property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure of the City are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Major Building Structures 50 years
Pavilions 25 years
Traffic Signals 10 years

Site Improvements/Paving/Lighting 20 years
Swimming Pools 50 years
Road & Utility Equipment 10 - 15 years
Telephone System 10 years
Computers 5 years
Copiers/Printers 5 years
Vehicies - Trucks, Sedans, SUV 8 years

Compensated Absences

The City's policies regarding vacation and sick time permit certain employees to accumulate earned but unused
vacation and sick leave. The liability calculated by the City for these compensated absences which is recorded as a
non-current liability in the government-wide financial statements amount of $2,134,202 in the Governmental
Activities. A porttion of compensated absences reported by the Business Activities of $130,105. In the Fund
Financial Statements, Governmental Funds would report only the compensated absence liability payable from
expendable available financial resources.

Long-Term Obligations

In the Government-wide Financial Statements and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements, long-term debt and
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized
over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method.

In the Fund Financial Statements, Governmental Fund Types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as
band issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing
sources, Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures, except for refunds paid
from proceeds which are reported as other financing uses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Cont'd.)

Fund Balance Classifications
Fund Balance designations have been modified to comply with GASB 54. The new designations are as follows:

Non-Spendable - includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in spendable form or they are
legally or contractually required to be kept intact. The City's Non-Spendable fund balance consists of pre-paid
assets.

Restricted - includes amounts that are restricted for specific purposes by constitutional provisions, enabling
legislation, or extemally imposed constraints. Restrictions are comprised of Liquid Fuel required uses from
the Commonwealth, grant restrictions and provisions of Capital Bond Issuance.

Commiited - includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes with constraints that are
established, and can only be removed, by formal action of City Council. All other Committed amounts are for
the designated purposes of those funds.

Asgigned - includes amounts that are constrained by the City, without use of Resolution or Ordinance.
Amounts can be Assigned by someone other than City Council and are intended for a specific purpose, such
as grant matching funds or funding for future benefits and insurance costs,
Unassigned - all other fund balances not in the other categories.
In the situation where both Unassigned, Assigned, Committed, or Restricted funds are available for use, it is the
City's policy to consider Restricted funds to have been used first, followed by Committed, Assigned, and finally

Unassigned funds.

Fund Balance Policy

The City has adopted a Fund Balance Policy that states "the annual city budget prepared and adopted shall
include a December 31 general fund balance that is a minimum of 10% of budgeted general fund revenues for that
budget year." The target percentage is 15 percent of budget revenues. In addition, the policy states:

a. The Health Care Fund should maintain a balance of at least $3,000,000 by the end of the 2017 fiscal year.

b. The Liability and Casualty Fund should maintain a balance of at least $1,000,000 by the end of the 2017 fiscal
year.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures, such as
estimates useful lives in determining depreciation expense, OPEB cost and contributions made, and earned income
tax rate variance revenue estimates; accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Penusylvania
Municipal Retirement System (PMRS) and additions to/deductions from PMRS’s fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by PMRS. The City also maintains an Aggregated Pension Fund
which is a single-employer defined benefit plan and acts as a common investment and administrative agent for the
City's police, firemen, and non-uniformed defined pension plans. For this purpose, benefit payments (including
refunds of employee coniributions) are recognized when due and payable, in accordance with the benefit terms
investments are reported at fair value.
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STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Budgetary Information

An annual budget is legally adopted prior to the beginning of each year for the General Fund and Debt Service
Funds on the modified cash basis of accounting. Additionally, the City adopts project-length financial plans and
budgets for all Capital Projects Funds, and provides Resolutions for individual State Grant programs as they arise.
The financial statements reflect the legally adopted General and Debt Service Funds and does not present budgetary
comparisons for Capital Project or State Grant Funds. The City Council and the administration may make transfers
of funds appropriated to any particular item of expenditure in accordance with the Third Class City Code and the
City's Home Rule Charter. The original budget of the General Fund has been modifted to reflect amendments
through the year, and the classification of Fund Transfers to the Debt Service Fund from the General Fund for
pension debt obligations originally classified to various expenditure classifications of the General Fund.
Appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal period. Budgetary information reflected in the financial statements is
presented at or below the level of budgetary control and include the effect of approved budget amendments.

DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS

Governmental and Business-Type Funds:

Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions

Cash deposits are with depositories designated by the City and permitted by section 1804.1 of the Pennsylvania
Third Class City Code, as amended. The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand
deposits, certificates of deposit, and pooled treasury money market funds.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the government's deposits may not be returned
to jt. The City does not have a policy for custodial credit risk other than the provisions of City Code. At December
31, 2017, the bank balance of the City’s deposits with financial institutions was $15,221,073 compared to the
carrying amount of $15,188,566, The difference is primarily caused by items in-transit and outstanding checks.
$14,721,073 of the City's deposits were exposed to custodial risk which includes uninsured bank balances that are
collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution or its trust department or agent, but not in the
City's name, but are required to be collateralized in accordance with ACT 72 of the Pennsylvania State legislature of
1971 which requires the institution of pool collateral for all government deposits and have collateral held by an
approved custodian in the institution's name.

Investments

In accerdance to GASB Statement No. 72, investments generally are to be measured at fair value. An investment is
defined as a security or other asset that (a) a government holds primarily for the purpose of income or profit and (b)
has the present service capacity based solely on its ability to generate cash or to be sold to generate cash.
Investments not measured at fair value continue to include, for example, money market invesiments, 2a7-like
external investment pools, investments in life insurance contracts, common stock meeting the criteria for applying
the equity method, unallocated insurance contracts, and synthetic guaranteed investment contracts,

A government is permitted in certain circumstances to establish the fair value of an investment that does not have a
readily determinable fair value by using the net asset value per share of the investment.

This Statement requires measurement at acquisition vatue (an entry price) for donated capital assets, donated works

of art, historical treasures, and similar assets, These assets were previously required to be measured at fair value. The
City of Easton has no investments to report within the Governmental and Business-type Funds.
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DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (Cont'd.)

Governmental and Business-Type Funds: (Cont'd.)

Investments (Conf'd.)

Fair Value is measured using a hierarchy of inputs using valuation techniques. The hierarchy has three levels. Level
1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices, that are observable for the asset of liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are
unobservable inputs.

The valuation techniques should be consistent with one or more of the following approaches: the market approach,
the cost approach, or the income approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. The cost approach reflects
the amount that would be required to replace the present service capacity of an asset. The income approach converts
{future amounts (such as cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (discounted) amount.

Permitied investments for Third Class Cities are defined in Section 1804.1 of the Pennsylvania City Code as:
(1) United States Treasury bills.
(2) Short-term obligations of the Federal government or its agencies or instrumentalities.

3) Deposits in savings accounts or time deposits, other than certificates of deposit, or share accounts of
institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the National Credit Union Share
Insurance Fund, the Pennsylvania Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Pennsylvania Savings
Association Insurance Corporation, or their successor agencies.

G Obligations of the United States of America or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full
faith and credit of the United States of America, of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its
agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full faith and credit of the Commeonwealth or of any poltitical
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by
the full faith and credit of the political subdivision.

(5) Shares of an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (54 Stat. 789,
15 U.8.C. § 80a-1 et seq.), whose shares are registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (48 Stat. 74, 15
U.5.C. § 77a et seq.), if the only investments of that company are in the authorized investments for city
funds listed in paragraphs (1) through (4).

(&) Certificates of deposit purchased from instifutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, the Pennsylvania Deposit Insurance
Corporation or the Pennsylvania Savings Association Insurance Corporation, or their successor
agencies.

Fiduciary-Type Funds:

Investmenis

In accordance to GASB Statement No. 72, investments generally are to be measured at fair value. An investment is
defined as a security or other asset that (a) 2 government holds primarily for the purpose of income or profit and (b}
has the present service capacity based solely on its ability to generate cash or to be sold to generate cash.
Tnvestments not measured at fair value continue to include, for example, money market investments, 2a7-like
external investment pools, investments in life insurance contracts, common stock meeting the criteria for applying
the equity method, unallocated insurance contracts, and synthetic guaranteed investment contracts.

A government is permitted in certain circumstances to establish the fair value of an investment that does not have a
readily determinable fair value by using the net asset value per share of the investment. 13
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DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (Cont'd.)

Fiduciary-Type Funds: (Cont'd.)

Investments (Cont'd.)

This Statement requires measurement at acquisition value (an entry price) for donated capital assets, donated works
of art, historical treasures, and similar assets. These assets were previously required to be measured at fair value.

Fair Value is measured using a hierarchy of inputs using valuation techniques. The hierarchy has three levels. Level
| inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices, that are observable for the asset of liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are
unobservable inputs,

The valuation techniques should be consistent with ene or more of the following approaches: the market approach,
the cost approach, or the income approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. The cost approach reflects
the amount that would be required to replace the present service capacity of an asset. The income approach converts
future amounis (such as cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (discounted) amount.

Private-Purpose Trust Fund -

Cost Fair Value

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Schwab Money Market - Cash Reserve Premium Account $ 69,818 3 69,818
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 5 69,818 $ 69818

Mutua] Funds:

Corporate Bonds $ 1,124,072 $ 1,127,512
Corporate Stocks 1,110,105 1,581,162
Total Invesiments § 2,234,177 $ 2,708,674

Permitted investments for municipal pension plans are defined in 20 Pa. C.S. Chapter 73:

I Obligations of the United States of America or any of its agencies or instrumentalities, the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities or any political subdivision
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities,

2. Bonds, notes or other obligations issued, assumed or guaranteed by the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development which contain an unconditional promise to pay by the International
Bank for Reconstruction and Development, or an unconditional guarantee by the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development of the payment of the interest thereon regularly, and the principal
thereof on or before a specified date, in lawful currency of the United States,

3. Deposits in savings accounts or time deposits of share accounts of institutions insured by FD.LC.,
4. Real estate in Pennsylvania, with court approval,
3. Mutual funds,

6. Corporate bonds, and
7. Stocks.

Fair Value Measurement

The methedology of determining all investment fair values is Level 1, an input of unadjusted quoted prices for
identical assets liabilities in active markets that the pension fund has the ability to access. The preceding method
described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of
future values. Based upon fair values obtained from trust account records provided by Morgan Stanley and UBS,
the City believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with the other market participants, the use of
different methodelogies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a
different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
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DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAT, INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (Cont'd.)

Aggregated Pension Fund

Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions

Investments

A detailed listing of investments is provided in a separately issued Aggregated Pension Report available at the
City’s finance depariment office. Cash, cash equivalents, and investments by major category consist of the
following as of December 31, 2017:

Cost Fair Value

Cash and Cash Equivalents:
State and Municipal Interest Checking Account b 567,076 5 507,076
UBS Cash Reserves 455,231 455231
Morgan Stanley DROP Account 40,342 40,342
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 1,002,649 $ 1,002,649

Investments presented at cost:

Common Stock - Equitics $ 8,694,997 $ 11,060,607
Mutual Funds 21,509,802 26,767,367

Fixed income securities:
Government/Municipal Securities 378,320 377,274
Corporate Bonds 10,622,748 10,561,056
Asset Backed Securities 1,230,602 1,229,098
Real Estate Fund 1,070,746 1,100,446
Total Investments $ 43,707.215 $ 51,295,938

Investment Risk Factors

There are many factors that affect the value of investments. Equity securities are affected by economic
conditions, company earnings performance, and market liquidity. Fixed income securities arc affected by such
factors as credit risk and changes in interest rates. Both types of securities may also be affected by custodial credit
risk, concentration of credit risk, and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a bond issuer will fail to pay interest or principal in a timely manner or that adverse
perceptions of the issuer’s ability to make such payments will cause the value of the bond o decline. Some factors
that may cause this are litigation, bankruptcy, financial weakness and adverse political conditions. Credit quality is
evaluated and rated by independent bond rating agencies, such as Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s. The lower the
rating, the greater the chance of failure to make bond paymenis. However, a lower rating is usually offset by a
higher yield to compensate for the additional risk.

Some fixed income securities, including obligations of the U.S. government and those explicitly guaranteed by
the U.S. government, are not considered to have credit risk. The Fiduciary Funds holdings of corporate bonds are
rated between BBB- and AAA by Standards and Poor’s; Mutual Funds are not rated. The Fiduciary Funds has no
policy in regard to credit risk.
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DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (Cont'd.)

Aggregated Pension Funds (Contd.)
Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions (Contd.}

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure, the Aggregated Pension Fund's deposits may not be
returned to it. The Aggregated Pension Fund does not have a policy for custodial risk. At December 31, 2017 the
bank balance and carrying amount of the Plan's deposits with financial institutions including cash equivalents was
$1,002,649. There were no items in-transit or outstanding checks at year-end. The Aggregated Pension Fund's
deposits of $712,307 were exposed to custodial risk which includes uninsured bank balances that are collateralized
with securities held by the pledging financial institution or its trust department or agent, but not in the Agpregated
Pension Fund's name.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss associated with lack of diversification. Securities issued or
explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government, mutual funds, external investment pools, or other pooled investments
are excluded from this review, The Fiduciary Funds do not hold any equities or non-U.S. government fixed income
securities that comprise more the five percent of total investments. The Fiduciary Funds have no policy regarding
concentration of credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of fixed income securities will decline due to rising interest rates.
Fixed-income secutities with a longer term to maturity tend to be more sensitive to changes in interest rates and,
therefore, more volatile than those with shorter maturities. The Fiduciary Funds do not have a formal policy in
regard to interest rate risk. The Fiduciary Funds have contracted with UBS and Schwab to mitigate this risk while
providing enough cash to fulfill pension cash requirements.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates could adversely affect deposits on an
investment’s fair value. The Aggregated Pension Fund has foreign currency risk through its investment in various
bonds and stocks and by its holdings of international mutual funds. The Aggregated Pension Fund has no policy
regarding exposure o foreign currency risk.

DEFERRED QUTTLOW OF RESOURCES

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City has four items that qualify for reporting in this category. One is
the deferred charge on refunding reported in the government-wide statement of net position. A deferred charge in
refunding results from the difference in the carrying vatue of refunded debt and its reacquisition price, including
associated premiums required to fund escrow requirements, This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter
of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. This amount for the City is $292,001. The other items are the current
year coniribution to the PMRS pension plan which will impact the net pension lability for December 31, 2017 in
the amount of $446,855 and differences between projected and actual earnings and differences between expected
and actual experience for pensions combined amount of $2,557,092 and changes in pension assumptions of
$4,191,055.
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NOTE4 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESQURCES (Cont'd)

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of
resources (revenue) untl that time. The City has two types of items, one which arises only under a modified
accrual basis of accounting, that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly, the item, unavailable
revenue, is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable
revenues from two sources: property taxes and utility billings. This amount of $2,115,113 is deferred and
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amount becomes available. The second item is
reported on the government-wide Statement of Net Position representing the difference between expected and

actual experience, actual earnings and assumptions in the pension plans in the total amount of $4,147,283.

NOTES CAPITAL ASSETS

Governmental Activities Beginning Balance

Capitat Assets Not Depreciated:
Land, Easements, Rights of Way b 7,672,373

Capital Assets Depreciated:

Land Improvements 1,074,216
Buildings & Improvements 35,646,367
Vehicles & Equipment 9,594,691
Infrastructure 2,825,036
Leased Water Plant Assets 20,590,352
Total Depreciated Capital Assets $ 69,730,662

$ 77,403,035

L.ess: Accumulated Depreciation:

Land Improvements $ 890,489
Buildings & Improvements 4,544,354
Vehicles & Equipment 6,621,573
Infrastructure 1,083,320
Leased Water Plant Assets 14,316,060

Total Accumulated Depreciation 27,455,796
Total Net Capital Assets $ 49,947,239

$

$

Additions

5,975,744

8,083,209
946,373
313,146

9,342,728
15,318,472

11,265
830,142
443,760
136,131
411,807

1,835,105

13,483,367

Ending Balange

$

20,590,352

14,727,867
25,290,901

13,648,117

1,074,216
43,729,576
10,541,064

3,138,182

79,073,390

92,721,507

901,754
5,374,496
7,067,333
1,219,451

63,430,606

Depreciation expense was allocated to expenditure classifications of the City of Easton as follows:

Governmental Activities:
General
Public Safety
Sanitation Activities
Highways & Roads
Other Public Services
Recreation

Total Depreciation Expense -
Governmental Activities

220,212

3

807,446
550,533
55,053
146,808
35,053

1,835,105
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NOTES 6 INTERNAL RECEIVABLES PAYABIES AND TRANSFERS

Receivable to:

Payable from:

Insurance Fund General Fund $ 632,847
Insurance Fund Sewer Fund 191,107
Insurance Fund City Hall Fund 21,492
General Fund Revolving Loan Fund 270,698
General Fund Major Grant Funds 1,445,459
General Fund Federal Programs Fund 221,114
General Fund Science Building Fund 160,000
General Fund Revolving Capital Fund 385,481
Debt Service Fund General Fund 100,000
Recreation Fund General Fund 112,998
Revolving Capital Fund General Fund 300,000
Liquid Fuels Fund General Fund 21,045
General Fund Donation Fund 11,535
General Fund Liquid Fuels Fund 22,965
Major Grant Funds 2015 Capital Bond Fund 750,000
Project Note Fund Major Grant Funds 2,654,238
General Fund Project Note Fund 2,860,274
General Fund 2015 Tax Exempt Fund 192,080
Major Grant Fund 2017 Bond Fund 740,012
General Fund 2017 Bond Fund 572,882
Land Purchase Fund General Fund 6,473,683
Health Benefit Fund Recreation Fund 40,413
General Fund Payroll Fund 107,439
General Fund Debt Service Fund 19,583
General Fund Health Benefit Fund 940,463
General Fund Insurance Liability Fund 20,747
General Fund Unemployment Insurance Fund 7,133
Health Benefit Fund General Fund 1,610,313
General Fund Major Grant Funds 1,181,614

$ 22,007,635

Activity between Funds that are representative of Iending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the
fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from Other Funds (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or
“advances to/from Other Funds (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). Any residual balances outstanding
between the Governmental Activities and Business-type Activities are reported in the Government-wide Financial

Statements as “internal balances™.

Interfund Transfers:

Transfers Out

Transfers In

Generat Fund Debt Service Fund $ 1,594,506
Sewage Treatment Fund Debt Service Fund 164,566
Recreation Fund Debt Service Fund 76,899
2013 Bond Fund General Fund 351,705
2017 Bond Fund Debt Service Fund 11,378

$ 2,199,054
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NOTE7 (GENERAL LONG-TERM DERT .

The following is a summary of changes in Debt Obligations for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Governmental Activities:

Balance Balance Amounts Due
December 31 December 31, within One
Tvpe of Debt 2016 Increase {Decrease} 2017 Year
Pension Debt Obligations $ 18,049,000 $ - § (809,000) $ 17,240,000 $ 865,000
Capital Debt Obligations 29,687,161 23,140,000 {7,990,597) 44 836,564 1,485,555
Capitalized Lease Debt 3,165,974 170,135 (802,686) 2,533,423 815,499
Post-Employment Benefits 6,781,824 760,241 - 7,542,065 Not Est.
Compensated Absences 2,141,778 - {7.576) 2,134,202 Not Est.
Net Pension Liability 32,697,464 - (436,211) 32,261,253 Not Est.
Total $ 92,523,201 § 24070376 § (10,046,070) § 106,547,507 § 3,170,054
Business-Type Activities:
Balance Balance Amounts Due
December 31 December 31, within One
Type of Debt 2016 Tncrease (Decrease) 2017 Year
Compensated Absences 3 133,010 % - b (2,905) § 130,105 $ 130,105
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NOTE7 GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT (Cont'd.)

Pension Debt Obligations:

Federally Taxable General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2007, maturing through December 1, 2025, bearing interest
ranging from 6.73% to 7.17%, interest and principal payable semi-annually June 1 and December 1.

Federally Taxable General Obligation Bends, Series A of 2015, mamring through December 1, 2029 bearing
interest ranging from 1.170% to 4.050%, interest and principal payable semi-annually June 1 and December 1.

Capital Debt Obligations

Federally Taxable, Genral Obligation Bond, Series C of 2017, Merchants Bank of Bangor, maturing through
December 13, 2019, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 3.45%, interest payable semi-annuaily June 13 and December
13, principal is payable in entirety on December 13, 2019,

General Obligation Bonds, Series A of 2017, maturing through 2031, bearing interest ranging from 2.00% to
3.100%, principal and interest is payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 15.

General Obligation Bonds, Series B of 2017, maturing through 2037, bearing interest ranging from 1.729% to
4.4835%, principal and interest is payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 15.

Federally Taxable General Cbligation Bond, Series D of 2017, Manufacturer's and Trader's Trust Company,
maturing through December 15, 2019, principal and interest payable semi-annually June 15 and December 15,
commencing June 15, 2018, at a fixed rate of 2.62%..

General Obligation Note of 2014, maturing through 2023, bearing interest of 3.65%, interest and principal payable
June 15 and December 15.

General Obligation Bond, Series of 2013, maturing through December 31, 2027, bearing interest ranging from
2.00% to 4.05%, payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 15.

Federally Taxable, General Obligation Bond, Series B of 2015, maturing through December 1, 2024, bearing
interesi ranging from 1.170% to 3.450%, interest and principal payable semi-annuaily June 1 and December 1.

General Obligation Bonds, Series C of 2015, maturing through December 1, 2029, bearing interest ranging from
2.00% to 3.00%, interest and principal payable semi-annuatly June 1 and December 1.

Other Financing Obligations

Master Lease Purchase Agreement, 2009, First Columbia Bank, 180 monthly payments, final maturity year 2022.

Guaranteed Lease Revenue Note of 2014, Easton Municipal Authority, Quakertown National Bank, maturing
through year 2020 bearing interest of 2.20%, interest and principal payable semi-annually February 15 and August
15.

Master Lease Purchase Agreement, Fulion Bank, National Association, dated September 2, 2015, semi-annual
payments of $36,750 on March 5 and September 5, maturing through the year 2020, bearing interest of 2.47%.

Governmental Lease Purchase Apresment, dated August 10, 2015, TCF Equipment Finance, a division of TCF
National Bank, quarterly payments of $17,220, maturing through May 2018 bearing interest of 2.93%.

Governmenial Lease Purchase Agreement, dated August 10, 2015, TCF Equipment Finance, a division of TCF
National Bank, annual payments of $49,377, maturing through Fuly 2018 bearing interest of 2.89%.

Governmental Lease Purchase Agreement, dated September 21, 2017, quartetly payments of $9,164, maturing
through 2022, bearing interest of 3.19%.

Total

$ 8,925,000

8,315,000

2,355,000
12,755,000

1,530,000

6,500,000
451,263
16,873,000
603,000

3,765,000

451,564

1,662,000
177,135
34,064

47,990

160,971

364,609,987
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

GENERAT LONG-TERM DEBT {Cont'd.}

Annual requirements for combined principal and interest costs for Pension, Capital, and Other Financing

Obligations are as follows:

Total
Year Ended Principal Interest Debt Service
2018 $ 3,175,113 $ 2,465,740 $ 3,640,853
2019 12,228,551 2,244,728 14,473,279
2020 3,465,927 1,865,531 5,331,478
2021 3,565,544 1,728,542 5,294,086
2022 3,636,995 1,580,526 3,217,521
2023 3,714,857 1,426,480 3,141,337
2024 3,879,000 1,262,716 3,141,716
2025 4,059,000 1,083,499 3,142,499
2026 4,275,000 868,356 5,143,356
2027 4,400,000 744,168 3,144,168
2028 4,515,000 628,928 5,143,928
2029 4,690,000 454,176 5,144,176
2030 4,860,000 284,263 5,144,263
2031 3,555,000 137,453 3,692,453
2032 90,000 26,261 116,261
2033 90,000 22,425 112,425
2034 95,000 18,388 113,388
2035 100,000 14,128 114,128
2036 105,600 9,643 114,643
2037 110,000 4,033 114,933
Totals $64,609,987 $16,870,904 $ 81,480,891

Debt service payments of principal and interest are recorded within the Debt Service Fund.

The Sources of Revenues to fund the debt service payments are as follows:

Alocation of Real Estate Taxes $ 2,997,244

Fund Allocations - in addition to the above allocation of real estate taxes as provided in the tax millage ordinance;
the funding for debt service costs associated with Pension Debt Obligations is also in the form of transfers which

are apportioned to cost categories within the General Fund, Recreation Fund and Sewage Treatment Fund as

General Fund Allocations:

General 356,683
Public Safety 987,515
Health and Welfare 7,690
Sanitation 88.819
Highways 130,729
Other Public Works 7,690
Urban Development 15,380
Recreation Fund Allocation 76,899
Sewage Treatment Fund Allocation 164,564
Capital Project Funds 11,380
Total Funds Allocations 1,847,349

Local Source Contribution 7.275
Total Sources of Revenues $ 4,851,868



NOTE 8

NOTE 9

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. Significant losses are covered by commercial insurance
tor all major programs including stop-loss insurance. For insured programs, management believes such coverage 1s
sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured losses to the City. Any material losses that would not be covered by
insurance would be presented in Note 15.

The City of Easton has been granted an exemption from insuring its workers’ compensation and occupational
disease liability under the provisions of the Pennsylvania Workers” Compensation Act by the Department of Labor
and Industry, Bureau of Workers® Compensation, Self-Insurance Fund created May 1, 1993, must be in existence to
provide a source of funds sufficient to pay the benefits incurred under the act. The funding level as established by
the Administrator and the City of Easton was $545,766. The City did contribute this amount and additional amounts
to the Trust during the 2017 year. As of December 31, 2017, assets of the Trust Fund amounted to $140,829.

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The City of Easton offers its’ employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal
Revenue Code section 457(B). The Plan permits participants to defer a portion of their salary until future years.
Empower Retirement and Valic are the managers of the plans and have reported the value of the Deferred
Compensation Plan to be $1,864,449 and $5,346,404, respectively as of December 31, 2017.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS
Aggregate Pension Fund

‘The Aggregate Pension Fund is comprised of the Non-Uniformed, Police, and Firemen's Retirement Funds.
The Aggregate Pension Fund is funded by contributions from the City, participating employees, the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and carnings from the Funds' investments.

In addition to Act 203, the City of Easton Aggregate Pension Trust Fund is also governed by implementing
regulations adopted by the Public Employee Retirement Commission published at Title 16, Part IV of the

Pennsylvania Code and applicable provisions of various other state statutes including, but not limited to, the
following:

Act 147 - Special Ad Hoc Municipal Police and Firefighter Postretirement Adjustment Act, Act of
1988, (P.L. 1192, Ne. 147), as amended, 53 P.S. Section 896.101, et seq.

Act 399 - Optional Third Class City Charter Law, Act of July 15, 1957, (P.L. 901, No. 399), as
amended, 53 P.S. Section 41101, et seq.

The Aggregate Pension Fund acts as a common investment and administrative agent for the City's police,
{iremen, and non-uniform defined benefit pension plans. The police pension plan is governed by Article 147
of the City's codified ordinances. The firemen's pension is governed by Article 149 of the City's codified
ordinances. The officers' and employees’ pension is governed by Article 143 of the City's codified ordinances.
The plans are also affected by the provisions of collective bargaining agreements between the City and its’
police officers, firefighters, and non-uniformed employees.

Municipal officials who are charged with administering municipal pension plans are recommended to utilize
the handbook "Municipal Pension Plans” as prepared by the Bureau of Municipal Pension and Fire Relief
Audits. The handbook does not encompass all aspects of plan management, but outlines pertinent information
concerning responsibilities of all municipal officials. The City of Easton has delegated the Authority to UBS
Financial Services to hold the Aggregated Pension Fund assets in trust; various financial advisor's manage the

invesiment of assets in accordance with individual investment policies established by the Aggregated pension
Board of Trustees.

City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan

General Description - The City of Easton Officers' and Employees' Pension Plan is a single employer defined
benefit plan controlled by the provisions of Pennsylvania Act 205 and Plan ordinances.

In accordance with Act 203, the City of Easton has been authorized by the State Retirement Commission to
participate as a level two moderate distressed level community. The participation at this level requires the City,

among other things, to aggregate the assets of afl the pension funds administered by the City into a single
pension trust fund.

Plan Membership at December 31, 2017

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 63
Inactive Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 0
Active Members 2

Total Members 65
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund {cont'd)

City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan {cont'd)

Benefits Provided
Eligibility

All full-time officers and employees who were employed prior to December 31, 1978, and who are not
members of the police force or fire department join the Plan upon employment,

Normal Retirement
A member is eligible for normal retirement after attainment of age 55 and completion of 20 years of service.

The normal retirement pension is payable monthly during the member's lifetime with payments continuing after
the member's death to the surviving spouse equal to 50% of the iniiial amount payable to the member.

The amount of monthly pension is equal to 50% of average monthly compensation, plus an incremental
pension equal to 1.25% of average monthly compensation for each complete vear of service in excess of 20
years.

Average monthly compensation is based upon the final annualized basic compensation rate, including
longevity payments, or the average monthly compensation, including longevity payments, received during the
last five years of employment, if higher.

Late Retirement

If a member continues working after his normal retirement date, his pension does not start until he actually
retires. The late retirement benefit is the benefit accrued to the late retirement date.

Disability Retirement

If a member who has completed 12 or more years of service is disabled, he is eligible for a disability pension.
The disability pension is equal to the benefit accrued to the date of disability.

Death Benefits

If a member with 12 or more years of service dies, a death benefit is payable to his spouse. The benefit is cqual
to 50% of the members pension he was or would have received at the date of death prorated for less than 20
years.

Vesting

A member's benefits vest upon the completion of 12 years of service. The vested benefit is a deferred pension
beginning at normal retirement equal to the benefit accrued to the date of termination.

Accrued Pension
The benefit accrued at any date other than the normal retirement date is equal to the projected normal

retirement benefit, multiplied by the ratie of the number of years of service to date to the total number of years
of service projected at normal retirement.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan (cont'd)
Contributions

Members contribute 6.5% of pay.

There is no interest on contributions,
Investment Policy

The plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
Aggregated Pension Board. It is the policy of the Aggregate Pension Board to pursue an investment strategy to
obtain a reasonable diversification of investments, which have a ready market for resale. The following was the
Board's adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2017:

Asset Class Target Allocation

Domestic Equity 45.50%

International Equity 9.00%

Fixed Income 40.50%

Real Estate 5.00%

Cash 0.00%
Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Officers and Employees Pension Plan, other than those
issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of
the plan's fiduciary net position. At December 31, 2017, the Officers and Employees Pension Plan does not hold
any equitics or non-governmental fixed income securities that comprise more than five percent of total
investments.

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 14.64%. The money-weighted rate of refurn expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2017, and the total pension Hability was determined
by rolling forward the liabilities from an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2017. No significant events or
changes in assumptions occurred between the valvation date and the fiscal year end. The components of the net
pension liability of the Officers and Employees Pension Plan at December 31, 2017 were as foliows:

Total Pension Liability $ 8,719,405
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 5,133,923
Net Pension Liability $ 3,585482

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability - 58.88%
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WOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan (coni'd)

Changes in the Net Peasion Liability
Increase {(Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a)-(b)
Balances at 12/31/2016 $ 8,865,883 $ 4,647,139 § 4,218,724
Service Cost 6,482 - 6,482
Interest Cost 612,746 - 612,746
Changes of Benefit Terms - - -
Changes for Experience (382,462) - {382,462)
Changes of Assumptions 603,328 - 603,328
Contributions - employer - 827,782 (827,782)
Contributions - member - 7,007 (7,007
Net Investment Income - 645,050 {645,050)
Benefit Payments, including -
refunds of member contributions (986,572 (986,572) -
Administration Expense - (6,503) 6,503
Other Changes - - -
Net Changes (146,478} 486,764 (633,242)
Balances at 12/31/2017 8,719,405 5,133,923 3,585,482

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension lability in the January 1, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied te all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 5.00% (average, including inflation)
Investment Rate of Return 7.125% (including inflation)
Pastretirement Cost of Living Increase 0.00%

Mortality rates were based on the IRS 2017 Static Combined Table for Small Plans. Incorporated into the table
are rates for annuitants projected 7 years and rates for non-annuitants projected 135 years using Scale AA to
reflect mortality improvement.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of returnt (expected returns, net of inflation)
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 43.50% 5.50% - 7.50%
International Equity 9.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
Fixed Incomse 40.30% 1.00% - 3.00%
Real Estate 5.00% 4.50% - 6.50%

Cash 0.00% 0.00% - 1.00% 56
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan (cont'd)

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.125%. The pension plan's fiduciary net position is
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employess,
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the funding requirements of
Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984. Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal cost plus plan expenses, as
well as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension Hability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 7.125%, as well as

what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.125%) {7.125%) (8.125%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $4,179,899 $3,585,482 $3,059,161

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the City recognized pension expense of $534,001. At December 31, 2017,
the City reported deferred cutflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the

following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience L3 - 5 -
Changes of assumptions - -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 194,108 (295,429}
Total $ 194,108 $ (295,429}

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended Pecember 31

2018 $ 19,882
2019 19,882
2020 (77,170)
2021 (63.913)
$ (101,321)
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan

General Description - The City of Easton Firemens' Pension Plan is a single employer defined benefit plan
controlled by the provisions of Pennsylvania Act 205 and Plan ordinances.

[n accordance with Act 203, the City of Easton has been authorized by the State Retirement Commission to
participate as a level two moderate distressed level community. The participation at this level requires the City,
among other things, to aggregate the assets of all the pension funds administered by the City into a single
pension trust fund.

Plan Membership at December 31, 2017

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 43
Inactive Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 1
Active Members 39
Total Members 83
Benefits Provided
Eligibility

All full-time members of the fire department join the Plan upon employment.

Normal Retirement

A participant is eligible for normal retirement afier attainment of age 50 and completion of 20 years of service.
The normal retirement pension is payable monthly during the participant's lifetime, with payments continuing
after the participant's death to the surviving spouse or to dependent children under the age of 18 equal to 100%
of the amount payable to the participant at the time of the participant's death.

For members hired before January 1, 2013, the amount of monthly pension is equal to 50% of average monthly
compensation plus 2.5% of average monthiy compensation per year of service in excess of 20 years of service
{Maximum 75% of compensation) plus an incremerttal pension of 1.25% times average monthly compensation
for each full year of service (before age 63) in excess of 20 years, up to an additional $100 per month.

For members hired after January 1, 2013, the monthly pension is equal to 50% of average monthly

Average monthly compensation (compensation includes longevity pay, degree pay, extra duty pay, and birthday
pay) is based upon the highest year within the last five years of employment, or the final rate of pay (base pay
plus longevity), whichever is greater.

Late Retirement

If a participant continues working after his normal retirement date, his pension does not start until he actually
retires. The late retirement benefit is the benefit accrued to the late retirement date.

Disability Retirement

If a participant is disabled in the line of duty, regardless of service, he is eligible for a disability pension. The
disabled participant shall receive full benefits provided by the Plan.
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NOTE 10 PENSIOQN PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)
Death Benefits

If a member who has worked more than 20 years of service dies or is killed in service, a death benefit is
payable to a surviving spouse or children under age 18 in an amount equal to the 100% of the monthly pension
had the participant been eligible to retire at the time of death.

If a member with at least 12 but less than 20 years of service dies who is not subject to the above death benefit,
a death benefit is payable equal to 25% of compensation.

Vesting

Effective January 1, 2009, a participani's benefits vest upon completion of 12 years of service. The vested
benefit is a deferred pension equal to the benefit accrued to the date of termination. A participant must continue
contributing to the Plan untit they would have reached age 50.

Acerued Pension

The benefit accrued at any date other than the normal retirement date is equal to the projected normal
retirement benefit multiplied by the ratio of the number of years and days of service io date to the total number
of years and days of service projected at normal retirement.

Contributions

If an actuarial study shows the Plan to have sufficient assets to fund plan benefits, member contributions may
be suspended.

Members contribute 6.5% of pay. Members hired after January 1, 2013, contribute 6.5%, until the fund
becomes Level One distress or less using 2011 actuarial assumptions, at which point they contribute 5.0% of

pay.
Members contributions are not credited with interest.

Any and all monies in a participant’s voluntary contribution and interest accounts were distributed out of the
Plan on or before December 31, 2005.

Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP)

Effective April 2, 2007, an active member who has met the eligibility for normal retirement may elect to
participant in the deferred retirement option program for a period of not less than one year or more than three
years. His monthly pension shall be calculated as of his date of participation in the program and shall be
accumulated with fund earnings and distributed in a lump sum at retirement. During 2017 the Aggregated
Pension Trust Fund transferred $176,972 to Morgan Stanley for three participants in accordance with a DROP
Arrangement. There were no DROP distributions made in 2017, The DROP account balance at December 31,
2017 was §320,567.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund {(cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)
Investment Policy
The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
Aggregated Pension Board. It is the policy of the Aggregate Pension Board to pursue an investment strategy to

obtain a reasonable diversification of investments, which have a ready market for resale. The following was the
Board's adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2017:

Asset Class Target Allocation

Domestic Equity 45.30%

International Equity 9.00%

Fixed Income 40.50%

Real Estate 5.00%

Cash 0.00%
Concentrations

Concenirations are defined as investments held by the Firemen's Pension Plan, other than those issued or
explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the plan's
fiduciary net position, At December 31, 2017, the Firemens' Pension Plan does not hold any equities or non-
governmental fixed income securities that comprise more than five percent of total investments,

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 14.64%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2017, and the total pension lability was determined
by refling forward the liabilities from an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2017. No significant events or
changes in assumptiens occurred between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. The components of the net
pension Hability of the Firemens' Pension Plan at December 31, 2017 were as follows:

Total Pension Liability $ 31,929,710
Plan Fiductary Net Position 23,692,512
Net Pension Liability $ 8,237,198

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability - 74.20%
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(@) 4] (a) - (b)
Balances at 12/31/2016 $ 28,774,500 $ 20,150,809 § 8,623,691
Service Cost 617,257 - 617,257
Interest Cost 2,165,996 - 2,165,996
Changes of Benefit Terms - - -
Changes for Experience (324,978) - (324,978)
Changes of Assumptions 1,824,790 - 1,824,790
Contributions - employer - 1,508,983 (1,508,983)
Contributions - member - 221,637 (221,637}
Net Investment Income - 2,954,972 (2,954,972)
Benefit Payments, inciuding -
refunds of member contributions (1,127,855) (1,127.855) -
Administration Expense - (16,034) 16,034
Other Changes - - -
Net Changes 3,155,210 3,541,703 {386,493
Balances at 12/31/2017 31,929,710 23,692,512 8,237,198

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied to ali periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 5.00% (average, including inflation)
Investment Rate of Return 7.125% (including inflation)
Postretirement Cost of Living Increase 0.00%

Mortality rates were based on the IRS 2017 Static Combined Table for Small Plans. Incorporated into the table
are rates for annuitanis projected 7 vears and rates for non-annuitants projected 13 years using Scale AA to
reflect mortality improvement.

The fong-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of inflation)
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 45.50% 5.50%-7.50%
Imemational Equity 9.00% 4,50% - 6.50%
Fixed Income 40.50% 1.00% - 3.00%
Real Estate 5.00% 4.50% - 6.50%

Cash 0.00% 0.00% - 1.00% 61
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont’d)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (coni'd)

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.125%. The pension plan's fiduciary net position
is projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension lability. The employer has always met the funding requirements of
Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984. Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal cost plus plan expenses, as
well as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 7.125%, as well as

what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.125%) (7.125%) (8.125%)
Plan's Net Pension Liabitity $ 11,897,782 $ 8237198 $ 5,145,947

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the City recognized pension expense of $1,259,103. At December 31, 2017,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources refated to pensions from the

following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience § - $ (538,528)
Changes of assumptions 1,459,832 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 747,270 (1,488,333)
Total $ 2207102 § (2,026,861)

Amounts reporied as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended December 31:

2018 $ 138,100
2019 138,102
2020 (96,260)
2021 299

$ 180241
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan

General Description - The City of Easton Police Pension Plan is a single employer defined benefit plan
controlled by the provisions of Pennsylvania Act 205 and Plan ordinances.

In accordance with Act 203, the City of Easton has been authorized by the State Retirement Commission to
participate as a level two moderate distressed level community. The participation at this level requires the

City, among other things, to aggregate the asseis of all the pension funds administered by the City into a single
pension trust fund.

Plan Membership at December 31, 2017

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 76
Inactive Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits
Active Members 61
Total Members 137
Benefits Provided
Eligibility

All full-time members of the Bureau of Police join the Plan upon employment.

Normal Retirement

A participant is eligible for normal retirement after atiainment of 20 years of service. A participant will be
automatically retired upon attainment of age 70.

The normal retirement pension is payable monthly during the participant's lifetime, with payments continuing
after the participant's death to the surviving spouse or to dependent children under the age of 18 equal to 100%
of the amount payable to the participant at the time of the participant's death.

The amount of monthly pension is equal to 50% of average monthly compensation plus an incremental pension
of 2.5% times average monthly compensation for each full year of service in excess of 20 years, up to a
maximum of 75% of average monthly compensation after 30 years of service.

Average monthly pay is based upon the final rate of pay (1/12th of annual salary plus degree pay, longevity
pay, personal day buyback, holiday pay, scheduled shift differential, and acting rank pay for regularly
scheduled shifts).

Late Retirement

If a participant continues working after his normal retirement date, his pension does not start untif he actually
retires. The late retirement benefit is the benefit accrued to the late retirement date.

Disability Retirement

If a participant who has 15 years of service is disabled, he is eligible for a disability pension. The disability
pension is equal to the normal retirement pension earned to date.

If a participant who has at least 12 years of service but less than 15 years of service is disabled, he is eligible
for a disability pension. He shall receive the portion of the full pension as the period of his service up to the
date of his termination bears to 15 years of service.

If a participant who has less than 12 years of service is disabled in the line of duty, he is eligible for a disability
pension. He shall receive the portion of the full pension as the period of his service up to the date of

fermination bears to 20 years of service. 6
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd)

Death Benefits

If a member who is eligible for retirement dies or is killed in service, a death benefit is payable to a surviving
spouse or children under age 18 in an amount equal to the 100% of the member's normal retirement benefit.

VYesting

A participant's benefits vest upon completion of 12 years of service. The vested benefit is a deferred pension
equal to the benefit accrued to the date of termination. A participant must continue contributing to the Plan
untit they would have reached 20 years.

Accrued Pension

The benefit accrued @t any date other than the normal retirement date is equal to the projected normal
retirement benefit multiplied by the ratio of the number of years and days of service to date to the total number
of years and days of service projected at normal retirement.

Contributions

Members contribute 6.0% of pay {plus $0.50 per week until age 60).

Member contributions are not credited with interest.
Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP)

A member with at least 20 years of service but not more than 22 years shall be eligible to enter the DROP. The
DROP peried cannot exceed three years. The DROP provisions shall follow Act 44 of 2009,

Investment Policy

The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is cstablished and may be amended by the
Aggregated Pension Board. It is the policy of the Aggregate Pension Board to pursue an investment strategy to
obtain a reasonable diversification of investments, which have a ready market for resale. The following was the
Board’s adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2017:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Domestic Equity 435.50%
Internationat Equity 9.00%
Fixed Income 40.50%
Real Estate 3.00%
Cash 0.00%
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd)
Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Police Pension Plan, other than those issued or explicitly
guaranteed by the U.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 3% or more of the plan's fiduciary
net position. At December 31, 2017, the Police Pension Plan does not hold any equities or non-governmental
fixed income securities that comprise more than five percent of total investments.

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 14.64%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2017, and the total pension [iability was determined
by rolling forward the liabilities from an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2017. No significant events or
changes in assumptions occurred between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. The components of the net
pension liability of the Firemens' Pension Plan at December 31, 2017 were as follows:

Total Pension Liability $ 42,069,375
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 23,625,747
Net Pension Liability $ 18,439,628

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability -56.17%

Changes in the Net Pension Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liabikity
(@) (] () -(b)
Balances at 12/31/2016 $ 38,198,434 $20,200,085 17,998,349
Service Cost 957,879 - 957,879
Interest Cost 2,876,380 - 2,876,380
Changes of Benefit Terms (210,640) - {210,640)
Changes for Experience 2,601,819 - 2,601,819
Changes of Assumptions - - -
Contributions - employer - 2,510,888 {(2,510,888)
Contributions - member - 314,754 (314,754)
Net Investment Income - 2,967,235 (2,967,235)
Benefit Payments, including -
refunds of member contributions (2,354,497} (2,354,497} -
Administration Expense - (8,818) 8,818
Other Changes - 100 (100)
Net Changes 3,870,941 3,429,662 441,279
Balances at 12/31/2017 42,069,375 23,629,747 18,439,628
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd)
Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 5.00% (average, including inflation)
Investment Rate of Return 7.125% (including inflation)
Postretirement Cost of Living Increase 0.00%

Mortality rates were based on the IRS 2017 Static Combined Table for Small Plans. Incorporated into the table
are rates for annuitants projected 7 years and rates for non-annuitants projected 15 years using Scale AA to
reflect mortality improvement.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of inflation)
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighiing the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 45.50% 5.50% - 7.50%
International Equity 9.00% 4,50% - 6.50%
Fixed Income 40.50% 1.00% - 3.00%
Real Estate 5.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
Cash 0.00% 0.00% - 1.00%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.125. The pension plan's fiduciary net
position is projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of curtent active and inactive
employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of refurn on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the
funding requirements of Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984. Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal
cost plus plan expenses, as well as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability te changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 7.125%, as

well as what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1~
percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.125%) {7.125%) (8.125%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $ 23,964,995 $ 18,439,628 $13,852,998
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Aggregate Pension Fund {cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd)
Pension Expense and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the City recognized pension expense of $2,457,819, At December 31, 2017,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the

following sources:

Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 410,118 $ (184,310)
Changes of assumptions 2,276,592 -
Net difference between projected and actual carnings
on pension plan investments 752,434 (1,417,745}
Total $ 3,439,144 $ (1,602,055)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended December 31:

2018 $ 385322
2019 385,324
2020 9,104
2021 78,619
2022 380,923
2023 298,897
2024 298,500
Thereafter 1,837,089
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Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement System - Pension Fund

The City of Easton participates in the Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement System (PMRS) which is an agent
multiple-employer public employee retirement system that acts as a common investment and administrative
agent for participating municipal pension plans. According to Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) Statements No. 67 and 68, PMRS is required to allocate/distribute all funds to the respective
participating employers for financial reporting purposes, to determine the respective employer "plan fiduciary
net position.” PMRS has determined that net investment income or loss and administrative expenses will be
allocated to the employer/municipality accounts pro-rata based on their beginning Fiduciary Net Position
balance adjusted for cash flows throughout the year. The "Additional administrative expenses" are the expenses
in excess of the "PMRS administrative expenses” (i.e. $20 per participant expense paid by each plan). The
"PMRS investment income” is based upen the regular and excess interest used to credit accounts annually. The
"Market value investment income” reflects the investment income/loss during the year net of PMRS investment
income and the income/ioss due to the difference between expected and actual asset values, including the
impact from allocation of assets in support of the underlying retiree liabilities. PMRS issues a separate
Comprehensive Annval Financial Report (CAFR). A copy of the CAFR can be obtained by contacting the
PMRS accounting office or on their website www.pmurs.state.pa.us

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

The plan's financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of aceounting. Plan member contributions are
recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer contributions to the plan are recognized
when due, in accordance with Act 205, as amended. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.

Method used to value investments

Investments are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair
value. Securities fraded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at
current exchange rates. Mortgage-backed securities are valued on the basis of future principal and interest
payments and are discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar instruments. The fair value of real estate
investments is based on independent appraisals every three years. In years for which an appraisal is not
performed, real estate investments and investments that do not have an established market value are reported at
estimated fair values, Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on a trade-date basis.

Funding Standards and State Aid

The City is required to make annual contributions to the plan pursuant to Act 205, which specifies minimum
funding standards for municipal pension plans in the Commonwealth. Act 203 requires the Borough to budget
and contribute to the plan the minimum municipal obligation, which includes both the normal cost of the plan
and an amortization contribution sufficient to amortize unfunded liabilities by target dates established under the
Act,

Act 203 also establishes a general municipal pension system state aid program, financed by a tax on the
premiums of casualty and fire insurance policies sold in the Commonwealth, The City is eligible for this aid for
its pension plan; however, the ultimate obligation to contribute the minimum municipal obligation to the plans
is the City's.
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Pension Plan (cont'd)

Plan Membership
Membership of the plan consisted of the following at December 31, 2016:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 72
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 3
Active employees 119
Total Members 194

Plan Administration

The plan participates in the Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement System (PMRS) which is an agent multiple-
employer public employee retirement system that acts as a common investment and administrative agent for
participating municipal pension plans, PMRS issues a separate Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
{CAFR). A copy of the CAFR can be obtained by contacting the PMRS accounting office.

Benefits Provided
The plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. Costs-of-
living allowances are provided at the discretion of the plan.

Normal Retirement
Accrued Benefit available upon attainment of age 65

Early Retirement
Benefit is available upon attainment of age 55 and 20 years of service

Vesting
A member is 100% vested after 5 years of service

Contributions
No member contributions are required

Investment Policy

The plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the PMRS
Board. The board places greatest emphasis on quality of investments and consistency in return. The following
was the System's adopted asset allocation pelicy as of December 31, 2016:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Equities ( large cap ) 25.00%
Equities ( small cap } 15.00%
Equities ( international } 15.00%
Equities ( emerging markets ) 10.00%
Fixed Income 15.00%
Real Estate 12.50%
Timber 7.50%
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Penston Plan (cont'd)

Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investmenis held by the Pension Plan , other than those issued or explicitly
guaranteed by the U.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the plan's fiduciary
net position. At December 31, 2016, PMRS does not hold any equities or non-governmental fixed income
securities that comprise more than five percent of total investments.

Rate of Return

Rates of Return are prepared by using the time-weighted rate of return methodology based upon market
values. The Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement Board's total investing portfolio was valued at $2.151 biltion
as of December 31, 2016 which was an increase of $136.9 million from the December 31, 2015 valuation of
$1.994 billion. During the calendar year of 2016, the system recorded a net investment return of $163.9
million, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plans investments, net of plan investment
expenses was 8.23%.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total pension liability was
determined by rolting forward the liabilitics from an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2015. There was
a change to the investment return assumption for municipal assets that decreased from 5.50% to 5.25%
effective for the measurement date December 31, 2016. The components of the net pension liability at
December 31, 2016 were as follows:

Changes in the Net Pension Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(@ () (@)-(b)
Balances at 12/31/2015 $21,197,303 $ 19,340,603 $ 1,856,700
Service Cost 848,268 - 848,268
Interest Cost 1,178,884 - 1,178,884
Changes of Benefit Terms - - -
Changes for Experience 190,772 - 190,772
Changes of Assumptions 446,833 - 446,833
Contributions - employer - 389,598 (389,598)
Contributions - PMRS assessment - 4,080 {4,080)
Contributions - member - 483,853 (483,853)
Net Investment Income - L121,050 (1,121,050)
Market Value Investment Income - 382,692 (582,6592)
Benefit Payments (1,013,067) (1,013,067) -
Administration Expense - (3,840) 3,840
Additional Administrative Expense - (54,921} 54,921
Net Changes 1,651,690 1,509,445 142,245
Balances at 12/31/2016 22,848,993 20,850,048 1,998,945

Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liability in the January 1, 2015 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumpiions, applied to al! periods included in the measurement:

Intlation 3.00%
Salary Increases 3.00%-8.30% (including inflation)
Investment Rate of Return 5.25%
Postretirement Cost of Living Increase Adhoc

Pre-Retirement Mortality Rates were based on the RP2000 Table for males and females. This table does not
in¢lude projected mortality improvements. 70
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Pension Plan {cont'd
Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 5.25%. The pension plan's fiduciary net position is
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the fong-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the funding requirements of
Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984. Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal cost plus plan expenses, as well
as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension Hability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 5.25%, as well as

what the Plan's net pension Hability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate;

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(4.25%) (5.25%) {6.25%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $ 3,986,629 $ 1,998945 $ 316729

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability
83.95% 91.25% 98.50%

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the City recognized pension expense of $735,131. At December 31, 2016, the
City reported deferred outtlows of resources and deferred inflows of resources refated to pensions from the following

sources:
Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 152,618 b -
Changes of assumptions 454,631 (222,938)
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 300,544 -
Total $ 907,793 $  (222,938)
Year ended December 31:;
2017 Fo254121
2018 254,121
2019 141,340
2020 35,273
$ 684855
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City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan

Plan Description - The City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan is a single employer-defined benefit plan
controlled by plan ordinances. The Plan does not issue a stand-alone financial report.

Plan Membership - Membership consists of active, vested former and retired employees of the City of Easton Fire
and Police departments. Non-uniformed employees existing retirees were grandfathered into benefits, no active
employees are eligible for benefits. Membership of the plan consisted of the Tollowing as of January 1, 2015:

Fire Police Non-Uniform Total
Active Participants 43 39 - 102
Vested Former Members - 7 - 7
Retired Participants 10 16 17 43
53 82 17 152

Summary of Benefits - Police

Eligibility for Benefits: Benefits are payable for members who retire after attaining 20 years of service.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Retirement: Eligible retirees may participate in the employer's group medical plan
unless the retired officer is eligible for similar coverage, without premium sharing, through other employment or
through the employment of histher spouse. While under age 65, the group medical plan includes full
hospitalization, health benefits, prescription drug, dental and vision. While under age 65, the City sponsored plan
to be provided to retirees is the plan that is made available to the active members of the bargaining unit and shall
automatically change if the plan for active members is changed. At age 65 and older, the City provides Medigap

For Officers who retired between 1/1/2012 and 12/31/2014 and were hired prior to January |, 2006 who retire
prior to age 50, the retiree must reimburse the employer for 50% of the premium quoted by the insurance company
in order to maintain coverage.

For Officers who retired between [/1/2612 and 12/31/2014 and were hired prior to Fanuary 1, 2006 who retired at
age 50 or later, the retiree must reimburse the employer for 40% of the premium quoted by the insurance company
in order to maintain coverage.

For Officers who retired between 1/1/2012 and 12/31/2014 hired after January 1, 2008, the retiree must reimburse
the employer for 65% of the premium quoted by the insurance company in order to maintain coverage while under
age 65. At ages 63 and later, the retiree must reimburse the employer for 65% of the premium..

Effective January 1, 2015, the retiree must reimburse the employer for 40% of the premium quoted by the
insurance company in order to maintain coverage while under age 65. At age 65 and older, the City will contribute
$100 a month toward health premiums. The retiree must pay the remaining premium.

Disability: The City will pay 100% of the premium for any officer granted a disability pension because of a job
related injury untit such officer is eligible for 65 Special and/or Medicare Part B. Spouses of officers granted
disability must contribute 40% of the premium,

Medical Benefits Payable upon Death of Active Officer: Surviving spouses and eligible dependents may participate
in the employer's group medical plan. While under age 63, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization and
health benefits, prescription drug, dental and vision. At ages 65 and older, the Cily provides Medigap coverage.

For Officers Killed in the Line of Duty, the empleyer will pay 100% of the premium quoted by the insurance
company in order to maintain coverage while the speuse is under age 65. Premium payments will no longer be paid
by the City if: 1) The spouse elects not to enroll, 2) The surviving spouse remarries, or 3) The spouse is eligible for
Medicare.
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City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan (Cont'd)

Summary of Benefits - Police (Cont'd)

For Officers Killed outside of the Line of Duty, the surviving spouse must pay 100% of the premium quoted by the
insurance company in order to maintain coverage until age 63.

Dependents: Spouses are covered under the Plan until age 65. Other dependents are covered as long as they are 18
years old or younger,

Grandfathered Provisions: Some existing retiress are covered under the previous provisions.

Summary of Benefits - Fire

Eligibilitv for Benefits: Benefits are payable for members who retire with 29 years of service.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Retirement: Eligible retirees may participate in the employer's group medical plan.
While under age 63, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization and health benefits, prescription drug,
dental and vision. At age 65 and older, the City provides Medigap coverage.

Retired prior to December 31, 2012:

The retitee must reimburse the employer for a specified percentage of the premium quoted by the insurance
company in ordet to maintain coverage. If the retiree has more than 30 years of service at retirement, he must pay
40% of the premium. If the retiree has between 25 and 30 years of service at retirement, he must pay 50% of the
premium. I the retiree has between 20 and 23 years of service at retirement, he must pay 75% of the premium.

Retired after December 31, 2012:

For Firefighters who have 30 or more years of service at retirement, the retirec must pay 35% of the premium. If the
refiree has between 20 and 30 years of service, he must pay 60% of the premium. At age 65 and older, the City will
comntribute $100 a month toward healsh premiurms. The retiree must pay the remaining premium.

Dependents: Spouses are covered under the Plan indefinitely,

Grandfathered Provisions: Some existing retirees are covered under the previous provisions.

Summary of Benefits - Non-Uniformed Employees

Eligibility for Benefits: No active employees are ¢ligible for benefits. Only existing retirees were grandfathered into
benefits.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Retirement; Eligible retirees may participate in the employer's group medical plan.
While under age 65, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization and heatth benefits, prescription drug,
dental and vision. At age 65 and older, the City provides Medigap coverage.

Retirees pay 100% of the premium quoted by the insurance company in order to maintain coverage.

Dependents; Spouses are covered under the Plan indefinitely. Other dependents are covered as long as they are
eligible to be covered under the retiree's benefits.
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CITY OF EASTON
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NOTE 11 POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN {Contd.)

City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan (Contd.)

Annual Required Contribution and Net Benefit Obligation - The City's annual post-retirement benefit cost and net
benefit obligation for the year ended December 31, 2017 were as follows:

Fire Police Non-Uniform Total

Estimated Net Benefit Obligation at

the beginning of the period $2,701,185 $ 4,163,366 $(82,927)  $6,781,824
Annual Benefit Cost:

Annuai Required Contribution (ARC) $ 428526 687,257 14,654 1,130,437

Estimated Interest on Net OPEB 121,553 187,360 (3,732) 305,181

Estimated Adjustments to ARC (163,830) (255,608) 5,091 (416,347)

Annual OPEB Cost $ 384249 $ 619,009 § 16,013 1,019,271

Contributions Made {Implicit Rate Subsidy - pay-as-you-go) (85,268) (141,261) (32,501) (259,030)

Estimated Net Benefit Obligation at the end of year $ 3,000,166 $4,641,314 $(99415)  §7,542,065

Interest Rate
4.50%
Salary

An assumption for salary increases is used only for spreading contributions over future pay under the entry age normal cost
method. For this purpose, salary increases are assumed to be 5.0%

Withdrawal

Table D-1: Rates of withdrawal at selected ages:

Age Rate Age Rate Age Rate
20 5.5000% 35 2.5000% 50 0.0000%
25 5.0000% 44 1.0000% 55 0.0000%
30 4.0000% 45 0.5000% 60 0.0000%

Mortality

IRS 2017 Static Combined Table for Small Plans.



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

NOTE 11 POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN (Contd.)

City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan (Contd.)

Disability

Fire: 1955 United Auto Workers Table
Police: SOA 1987 Group LTD Table - Males, 6-month elimination. 100% of disabilities are assumed to be service-related.

Retirement

Assumed 100% retirement after 30 years of service. Before 30 years of service, the rates for participants eligible to retire

Age  Rate Age  Rate Age Rate

Less than 30 0.0000% 53 5.0000% 57 20.0000%
50 5.0000% 54 5.0000% 58 20.0000%
51 3.0000% 55 20.0000% 59 20.0000%
52 3.0000% 56 20.0000% 60+ 106.0000%

Percent of Eligible Retirees Electing Coverage in Plan

Police: 75% are assumed to elect coverage upon retirement. 100% are assumed to elect coverage upon disability.
100% of surviving spouses are assumed to elect coverdge upon death of an active officer killed in the Line of
Duty. 50% of surviving spouses are assumed to elect coverage upon death of an active officer killed outside

Fire: 75% are assumed to elect coverage.

Vested Former Members: 50% elect coverage at age 62, or current age, if older.

Percent Married at Retirement

60% of employees are assumed to be married and have a spouse covered by the plan at retirement.

Spouse Age

Wives are assumed to be two years younger than their husbands,

Dependents

Non-spouse dependents are either assumed to not have coverage or have negligible costs in the plan.

Per Capita Claims Cost

Making use of weighted averages for various plan designs, the per capita cost for medical and prescription drug is based

on the expected portion of the group's overall cost attributed to individuals in the specified age and gender brackets.

Dental and vision costs are assumed to not vary with age or gender. The resulting costs are as follows:

Medical and Prescription Drug Combined (1)

Age Males Femaleg
45-49 $ 7364 $ 10,636
50-54 $ 9,753 $ 12,020
55-59 511,879 $ 12,578
60-64 $15,502 5 14449

(1) For retirees ages 65 and over, claims cost are assumed to equal the premium.



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017

NOTE 11 POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN (Contd.)

Citv of Faston Postretirement Benefit Plan (Contd.)

Retiree Contributions
Retiree Contributions are assumed to increase at the same rate as the Health Care Cost Trend Rate.
Health Care Cost Trend Rate

6.0% in 2017 and 5.5% in 2018 through 2023. Rates gradually decrease from 5.4% in 2024 to 3.9% in 2075 and
later based on the Socicty of Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend Model.

Actuarial Value of Assets
Equal to the Market Value of Assets
Actuarial Cost Method - Entry Age Normal

Under the Entry Age Normal Cost Method, the Normal Cost is the present value of benefits allocated to the year
following the valuation date. Benefits are allocated on a level basis over the carnings of an individual between the
date of hire and the assumed retirement age. The Accrued Liability as of the valuation date is the excess of the
present value of future benefits over the present value of future Normal Cost. The Unfunded Accrued Liability is
the excess of the Accrued Liability over the Actuarial Value of Assets. Actuarial gains and losses serve to reduce or
in¢rease the Unfunded Accrued Liability.

Participant Data
Based on census information as of January 1, 2017,

The City of Easton has not established a separate irrevocable Trust Fund for Other Post-Employment Benefits
and consequently has not provided funding in the form of contributions to a plan. The actuarial calculated Implicit

Rate Subsidy amount is estimated by the Actuary, in that claims and expenses for retirees are not tracked separately
and the City's costs for retirees generally exceeds the amounts for premiums,
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NOTE 12 LEASE AND OPERATING AGREEMENT

The City of Easton and the Easton Suburban Water Authority entered into a Lease and Operating Agreement on
December 5, 2006, to be effective January 1, 2007. The term of the Lease and Operating Agreement shall be twenty-
five (25) years from it’s effective date unless it is extended by mutual agreement of the parties. The City desires and
intends to permanently and completely cease providing water service to customers within its municipal boundaries,
as well and permanently and completely cease selling water to the Authority for distribution outside of the
municipal boundaries of the City.

Commensurate with the City’s abovementioned intent, the Authority desires and intends to assume responsibility
for the operation of the City water supply and distribution systems inclusive of the water treatment and filtration
plant hereafter collectively referred to as the “Water System” by utilizing facilities, equipment, materials, and
supplies currently used by the City for the purpose.

The Authority desires and infends to assume responsibility for administrative aspects of operating fhe Water
System and further intends to assume responsibility in determining the financial and operational feasibility of
capital improvements, repairs, replacements and upgrades needed to provide water service both within and outside
of the municipal boundaries of the City.

The 1958 Lease Agreement, as amended in 1991 for the distribution systems outside of the City, and the Water
Treatment Plant Renovation and Expansion Agreement between the parties remains in force, except as specifically
amended by the Lease and Operating Agreement. Water Purchase Agreements, as amended are hereby terminated
and are of no further force and effect.

The City hereby leases to the Authority all facilitics of the Water System including, but not limited to, its water
filtration plant, reservoirs, pumping stations, lines, hydrants, meters, valves, blow-offs, customer services from main
to curb box, and alf other facilities of the Water System. It is the inteation of the parties that each and every City-
owned facility utilized in the supply and distribution of water within and outside the municipal boundaries of the
City is incluzded under the terms of the lease.

The City and the Authority agree that in return for the Authority operating the Water System for the term of this
Lease, and retaining all revenues generated from it, the Authority has complied with the following payment
provisions:

@) Lump Sum Payment - One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) on the effective date of this Agreement;
b} Debt Forgiveness - All sums due to the Awthority from the City (approximately Eight Hundred

Thousand Dollars ($800,000.00) for water treatment plant design, water treatment plant action plan,
purchased water rates, etc. shall be forgiven on the effective date of this Agreement;
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LEASE AND OPERATING AGREEMENT (Contd.)

¢) Reimbursement - Reimbursement of Authority-approved invoiced direct costs related to the Morgan
Hill tanks replacement project design and permitting and the City’s Large Meter Replacement Program;

d) Annual Payment - One Million Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,300,000.00), payable in twelve
(12) monthly payments beginning on the 15¢th day of the first month following the effective date of this
Agreement. The amount of the annual payment will be increased by two percent (2%) each year, and
calculated by multiplying the immediately proceeding annual payment by 1.02%:

¢) Variable Payment - The amount to be paid will equal one-third (1/3) of the capacity portion of the
tapping fees collected by the Authority.

Upon termination of the Lease and Operating Agreement, all property, of every type and nature, leased to the
Authority by this Agreement as well as all assignable permits and approvals needed to operate the Water System,

shall be transferred from the Authority to the City.

MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT

Master Lease Agreement dated February 27, 2013, between the City of Easton and Easton Parking Authority. The
City is the owner of a certain parcel of real estate known as 123 and 181 South Third Street, Easton. The Lehigh and
Northampton Transportation Authority ("Lanta") is desirous of operating an intermodel transit passenger waiting
and service area ("Transporiation Center”) on a portion of the Land. The City and Parking Authority will construct
the Transportation Center on a portion of the Land and will include a parking garage and bus transfer facility that
will be developed to meet the specifications to be mutually agreed upon by LANTA, the Cily and the Parking
Authority. The City and the Parking Authority are entering into this Lease with respect to the portion of the Project
constituting the parking garage and Transportation Center. LANTA desires to sublease a portion of the Leases
Premises from the Parking Authority upon the terms and conditions more fully set forth in the Sublease,

The term of this Lease shall commence upon the date hereof and shall extend (unless earlier terminated as provided
herein) through the date which is ninety-nine (99) years after the "Commencement Date” of the Sublease which is
the date of the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the LANTA Premises. The Parking Authority aprees to
lease the Leases Premises and further agrees and covenants to pay the City, rent for the Leased Premises for the term
set forth in the amount of $1.00. In addition to Rent, the Parking Authority shall also pay all water, sewer, clectric,
heating, air conditioning, real estate taxes, if applicable, and all other utility charges for the Leased Premises, except
to the extent such charges are paid by LANTA. The Parking Authority may, at its own expense, petforen all routine
maintenance of and repairs to the Leases Premises or request that the City perform such routine maintenance and
repair items in accordance with any existing management or similar agreement between the parties.

RESTRICTED AND COMMITTED FUND BALANCES

Restricted - The Liquid Fuels and Capital Project Funds are restricted in accordance with state regulations and debt
covenant provisions in the total amount of $6,892,313. The negative fund balance within the Science Fund will be
eliminated by anticipated planning funds to be received.

Committed - Funds allocated within Debt Service and Other Special Revenue Funds are committed for future
purposes as they are individually established in the total amount of $926,568.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The City of Easton is also a defendant in various other lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not
presently determinable, in the opinion of the City's counsel, the resolution of these various lawsuits will not have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition of the government,
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NOTE 16 ECONOMIC QPPORTUNITY ZONES

In partnership with the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the County of Northampton, and the Easton Area School
District, the City of Easton is excited to offer two special programs to encourage community and economic
development in various regions or zones throughout the City. The two current programs — the Keystone

Opportunity Zone (KOZ) program and the Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA) program are
explained below.

Kevstone Opportunity Zone

Several sites in Easton were recently designated part of a regional Keystone Opportunity Zone (KOZ) by the State
of Pennsylvania. Unlike the NIZ and CRIZ programs in Allentown and Bethlehem, KOZs provide clear and
tangible tax benefiis directly to business owners and residents that reside in the zones. The KOZ status for these
sites will expire in 2023.

The tax benefit offered in a KOZ site depends on whether the taxpayer is a resident in the KOZ, owns and operates
a business in the KOZ, andfor owns property in the KOZ as follows:

If your residence is in the KOZ — you are not required to pay State and local income taxes. The State’s income
tax is currently 3.07%, while Easton’s Earned Income Tax is 1.95% (regardless of where you work). To be
eligible for these benefits, your permanent resident must be in the KOZ for 184 consecutive days during a
given calendar year.

If your business resides in the KOZ — the business is not required to pay State Corporate Net Income Tax,
State Sales/Use Tax for items consumed in the KOZ, and a host of other State taxes. The business is also not
required to pay Easton’s Business Privilege Tax, which ranges from 0.1% to 0.25% of gross receipts
{depending on business type). To be eligible for these benefits, the business must increase its full time
employment by 20% in its first year in the KOZ, make a significant capital investment in the property, or enter
into & lease agreement for the duration of the KOZ {or longer).

If you are a property in the KOZ - If you own property in a KOZ, you are not required to pay County, City, or
Easton Area School District real estate taxes. To be eligible for these benefits, the property must stay compliant
with tax and zoning reguirements,

KOZ sites in the City of Easton include the Simon Silk Mill complex, the Easton City Hall and Transportation
Center, the Governor Wolf Building, 118-120 Northampton Street, and a Silk Mill located in the South Side of
Easton. For more information on the above sites, e-mail Dawn Hart at dhart@easton-pa.gov. The Northampton
Street and Sitk Mill in South Side properties will qualify as KOZ sites in 2017.

Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA) Program

The Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA} program is designed to promote and provide
incentives for property investment by granting partial tax abatement on improvements made to properties within a
designated LERTA District. Senate Bill #305 of 1977 enables the establishment of LERTA Districts in the State of
Pennsylvania.

Easton City Council passed an ordinance amending Chapter 331, Tax Abatements, of the Codes of the City of
Easton, Pa. to define the terms of the LERTA, set the exemption amount and schedule, and provide a procedure for
property owners to secure an exempiion, The Baston Area School District Board and Northampton County Council
passed simifar ordinances allowing the re-gstablishment of the LERTA program in Easton.

Property owners of residential, commercial, industrial, or any other type of property located within the LERTA
District are eligible for 10 year partial tax abatement on property tax increases which are a result of substantial
property improvement and subsequent property reassessment by Northampton County.,

Easton’s LERTA District was established by City Council Resolution #66-2012, Information on LERTA District
eligible properties is available at the Department of Planning & Codes on the 2nd floor of City Hall or online at
www.caston-pa.gov in the forms and documents section of the Community and Econemic Development tab.

For more information about the LERTA program, e-mail Dawn Hart at dhart@easton-pa.gov.
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OFFICERS' AND EMPLOYEES' PENSION PLAN

CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost

Interest Cost

Benefit Payments, including
refunds of member contributions

Changes in Benefit Terms

Changes in Benefit Experience

Changes in Benefit Assumptions

Net Change in total pension liability

Total Pension Liahility - Beginning

Total Pension Liahility - Ending (a)

Plan Net Position

Contributions - Employer

Contributions - Members

Net Investment Income

Benefit Payments including refunds
of member contributions

Administrative Expense

Other Changes

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning

Plan Fiduciary Net Position ~ Ending (b)

City's net pension liability -
Ending (&) - (b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a

percentage of the total pension liability

Covered-employee payroll

City's net pension liability as a

percentage of covered-employee payroll

2017 2016 2015 2014
$ 6482 § 1439 § 13,710 $ 17,966
612,746 656,144 685,520 713,728
(986,572) (1,077,707 (1,105,482) (1,081,524)
(382,462) . (10,039) -
603,328 : - -
(146,478) (407,167 (416,291) (349,830)
8,865,383 9,273,050 9,689,341 10,039,171
$ 8719405 § 8865883 § 9273,050 $ 9689341
$ 827782 S 782506 $ 804861 § 524433
7,007 7,288 12,996 20,384
645,050 396,395 (123,831) 411,644
(986,572) (1,077,707) (1,105,482) (1,081,524)
(6,503) (13,676) (11,783) (10,590)
- - 6,704 920
$ 486764 $ 94806 $ (416335 $ (134,733)
4,647,159 4,552,353 4,968,888 5,103,621
5,133,923 4,647,159 4,552,353 4,968,888
$ 3,585,482 $ 4218724 $ 4,720,697 $ 4,720,453
58.88% 52.42% 49.09% 51.28%
$ 117,832 § 143982 % 180815 $ 242,604
3042.88% 2930.04% 2610.79% 1945.74%
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CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

OFFICERS' AND EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS

Contribution

Actuarially Contributions Contribution Covered asa% of

Determined From Deficiency/ Employee Covered Employee
Year Contribution Employer (Surplus) Payroll Payroll
2008 5 60,647 60,647 5 - 3 - 3 -
2009 54,537 54,537 - - -
2010 43,788 43,788 - - -
2011 164,399 164,399 - - -
2012 157,440 157,440 - - -
2013 516,830 516,830 - - -
2014 524,433 524,433 - 242,604 216.17%
2015 804,861 804,861 - 180,815 445.13%
2016 782,506 782,506 - 143,582 343.47%
2017 827,782 827,782 - 117,832 702.51%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuariatly determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, two to four years prior to the end of the
fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial Valuation Date: 1/1/2015

Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method: Level Dollar Closed
Remaining Amortization Period: 7 years

Asset Valuation Method: Smoothed value with a corridor of 90% to 110% of market value.

Inflation: 3.00%

Salary Increases: 5.00%

Investment Rate of Return: 7.50%

Retirement Age: Age 65

Mortality: RP2000 Table. This table does not include projected mortality improvements,

Changes in benefit terms: None sine 1/1/2015,

CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATED PENSION FUND

OFFICERS' AND EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS

Annual money-weighted rate of return net of investment expense

2017 2016

20135

14.64% 9.57%

2.72%
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CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABRILITY

FIREMENS' PENSION PLAN

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost

Interest Cost

Benefit Payments, including
refunds of member contributions

Changes in Benefit Terms

Changes in Benefit Experience

Changes in Benefit Assumptions

Net Change in total pension liability

Total Pension Liability - Beginning

Total Pension Liability - Ending (a)

Plan Net Position

Contributions - Employer

Contributions - Members

Net Investment Income

Benefit Payments including refunds
of member contributions

Administrative Expense

Other Changes

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b)

City's net pension liability -
Ending (a) - (b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension liability

Covered-employee payroll

City's net pension liability as a
percentage of covered-employee payroli

2017 2016 2015 2014
$ 617257 § 585056 § 557,196 § 571,789
2,165,996 2,046,325 1,943,501 1,900,331
(1,127,855) (1,439,980) (1,041,050) (1,120,697)

(324,978) - (696,365) .

1,824,790 - - )
3,155,210 1,191,401 763,282 1,351,423
28,774,500 27,583,099 26,819,817 25,326,303
$31,929.710  $28,774500 $ 27,583,099 $ 26,677,726
$ 1,508,983 § 1418639 S 1415944 S 1,061,666
221,637 206,592 215,973 201,891
2,654,972 1,849,123 (493,043) 1,483,012
(1,127,855) (1,439,980) (1,041,050) (1,120,697)
(16,034) (17,462) (12,604) (14,084)
. - 2,758 920
$ 3,541,703  § 2016912 § 87,978 $ 1,612,708
20,150,809 18,133,897 18,045,919 16,291,120
23,692,512 20,150,809 18,133,897 17,903,828
$ 8237198 $ 8623691 5 9449202 § 8,773,898
74.20% 70.03% 65.74% 67.11%
§ 2918361 § 3,782,072 $ 3,624573 § 3,081,522
282.25% 228.01% 260.70% 284.73%
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CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

FIREMENS' RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS

Contribution

Actuarially Contributions Contribution Covered as a% of

Determined From Deficiency/ Employee Covered Employee
Year Contribution Employer {Surplus) Payroll Payroll
2008 $ 290,276 260,276 $ - $ - $ -
2009 405,504 403,504 - - -
2010 434,626 434,626 - - -
2011 434,219 434219 - - -
2012 441,521 441,521 - - -
2013 1,073,905 1,073,905 - - -
2014 1,061,666 1,061,666 - 3,081,522 34.45%
2015 1,415,944 1,415,944 - 3,624,573 39.07%
2016 1,418,639 1,418,639 3,782,072 37.51%
2017 1,508,983 1,508,983 2,918,361 51.71%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, two to four vears prior to the end of the
fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial Valuation Date: 1/1/2015
Actuarial Cost Methed: Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method: Level Dollar Closed

Remaining Amortization Period: 12 years

Asset Valuation Method: Smoothed value with a corridor of 90% to 110% of market value.

Inflation: 3.00%
Salary Increases: 5.00%

Investment Rate of Return: 7,50%
Retirement Age: Age 55 and completion of 25 years of service.
Mortality: RP2000 Table. This table does not inctude projected mortatity improvements.

Changes in benefit terms: None sine 1/1/2015.

CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATE PENSION FIIND

FIREMENS' PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS

2017 2016 2015

Annual money-weighted rate of return net of investment expense 14.64% 9.57% -2.72%
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CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

POLICE PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES TN NET PENSION LIABILITY

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost

Interest Cost

Benefit Payments, including
refunds of member contributions

Changes in Benefit Terms

Changes in Benefit Experience

Changes in Benefit Assumptions

Net Change in total pension liability

Total Pension Liability ~ Beginning

Total Pension Liability - Ending (a)

Plan Net Position

Contributions - Employer

Contributions - Members

Net Investment Income

Benefit Payments including refunds
of member contributions

Administrative Expense

Other Changes

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b)

City's net pension liability -
Ending (a} - (b}

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension liability

Covered-employee payroll

City's net pension liability as a
percentage of covered-employee payroll

2017 2016 2015 2014
$ 957,879 § 848805 $ 80838 § 753,083
2,876,380 2,743,288 2,645,645 2,506,321
(2,354,497) (2,244,052) (2,141,028) (2,085,463)

(210,640) - 656,187 .

2,601,819 - - -
3,870,941 1,348,041 1,969,190 1,173,939
38,198,434 36,850,393 34,881,203 33,707,264
$42,069375  $38198434 $ 36850393 § 34,881,203
$ 2,510,888  $ 2,246,363 $ 2304171 § 1,703,854
314,754 292,681 280,296 258,853
2,967,235 1,722,920 (495,045) 1,512,997
(2,354,497} (2,244,052) (2,141,028) (2,085.465)
(8,818) (17,066) (13,889) (14,805)
100 100 (1,088) 1,020
$ 3,429,662 $ 2,000946 §  (66583) $ 1,376,454
20,200,085 18,199,139 18,265,722 16,889,268
23,629,747 20,200,085 18,199,139 18,265,722
$18,439,628  $17,998349  $§ 18651254 § 16615481
56.17% 52.88% 49.39% 52.37%
$ 4,561,549 § 4758818 § 4755170 § 4,648,695
404.24% 378.21% 392.23% 357.42%
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CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
POLICE RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS

Contribution

Actuarially Contributions Contribution Covered asa % of

Determined From Deficiency/ Employee Covered Employee
Year Contribution Employer (Surplus) Payroil Payroll
2008 414,750 414,750 - - -
2009 500,537 500,579 (42) - -
2010 485,312 485,312 - - -
2011 843,933 843,934 (D - -
2012 761,291 761,291 - - -
2013 1,684,086 1,684,086 - - -
2014 1,703,854 1,703,854 - 4,648,695 36.65%
2015 2,304,171 2,304,171 - 4,755,170 48.46%
2016 2,246,363 2,246,363 - 4,758,818 47.20%
2017 2,510,888 2,510,888 - 4,561,549 55.04%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, two to four years prior to the end of the

fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial Valuation Date: 1/1/2015
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method: Level Dollar Closed
Remaining Amortization Period: 15 years
Asset Valuation Method: Smoothed value with a corridor of 90% to 110% of market value.
Inflation: 3.00%
Salary Increases: 5.00%
Investment Rate of Return: 7.50%
Retirement Age: Age 35 and completion of 25 years of service.
Mortality: RP2000 Table. This table does not include projected mortality improvements.

Changes in benefit terms: None sine 1/1/2013.

CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
POLICE PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE QF INVESTMENT RETURNS

2017 2016

2013

Annual money-weighted rate of return net of investment expense 14.64% 9.57%

-2.72%
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CITY OF EASTON
PMRS PENSION FUND

SCHERULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIO

LAST THREE FISCAL YEARS

Measurement Year Measurement Year
Ending 12/31/2016 Ending 12/31/2015

Measurement Year
Ending 12/31/2014

Total Pension Liability

Service cost (beginning of year) $ 848,268 % 816,351 % 824,389
Interest (includes interest on service cost) 1,178,884 1,132,977 1,110,052
Changes of benefit terms - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience 180,772 - (445,874)
Changes of assumptions 446,833 145,747 -
Transfers - - -
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (1,0613,067) (1,522,955) {612,033)
Net change in total pension lability 3 1,651,690 $ 572,120 § 876,534
Total pension liability - beginning 21,197,303 20,625,183 19,748,649
Total pension liability - ending  (a) $ 22,848993 % 21,197,303 8§ 20,625,183
Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - employer $ 389,598 % 401,999 % 314,675
Contributions - PMRS Assessment 4,080 4,000 -
Contributions - member 483,853 427,351 422268
PMRS investment income 1,121,050 1,035,687 1,069,742
Market value investment income 582,692 (901,900) (563,895)
Transfers - - -
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (1,013,067) (1,522,9535) {612,033)
PMRS administrative expense (3,840) (300) (3,780)
Additional Administrative expense {54,921) (43,176) (41,025)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position $ 1,509,445 § (599,294) § 585,952
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 19,340,603 19,939,897 19,353,945
Plan fiduciary net position - ending ~ (b) 3 20,850,048 % 19,340,603  § 19,939,897
Net pension liability - ending  (2) - (b) $ 1,998945 § 1,856,700 % 685,286
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension lability 91.25% 91.24% 96.68%
Covered - employee payrol b 6,563,031 § 6,194,675 § 6,261,571
City's net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll 30.45% 29.97% 10.94%
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CITY OF EASTON

PMRS PENSION FUND
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS
LAST THREE FISCAL YEARS

Actuarially Contribution Contribution Covered Contributions

Determined from Deficiency/ Employee asa % of
Year Contribution Employer (Excess) Payroll Payroll
2014 $302,232 $314,675 -$12,443 $6,261,571 5.03%
2015 $405,659 $405,999 -$340 36,194,675 6.33%
2016 $391,711 $383,678 -$1,967 36,565,031 6.00%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1 for the odd valuation year at least
two years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions were reported. Therefore, the Actuarially Determined
Contribution for calendar year 2016 is based upon the January 1, 2013 actuarial valuation.

A summary of the key assumptions and methods used to determine the contribution rates;

Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Ape

Amortization Period: Leve! dollar based upon the amortization periods in Act 205

Agsset valuation method: Based upon the municipal reserves

Discount Rate: 5.50%

Inflation: 3.0%

Salary increases: age related scale with merit and inflation component

COLA increases: 3.0% for those eligible for a COLA

Pre-Retirement Mortality: Males - RP-2000 with 1 year set back, Females - RP-2000 with 5 year set back
Post-Retirement Mortality: Sex distinct RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality

For a complete listing of all assumptions and methods, please refer to the PDF file entitled PMRS 2015 Assumptions and
Methods for GASB.

Other Information: Plan Changes - please refer to the Plan's Act 205 filing.
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Fire

Police

Non-Uniform

Employees

Total

CITY OF EASTON
OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Actuarial
Accrued UAAL asa
Actuarial Actuarial Liability (AAL - Funded Percentage
Valuation Value of Entry Age Unfunded AAL Ratio Covered of Covered
Date Assets (a) (b) {UAAL) (b - a) (a/b) Payroll Payroll
1/1/2017 $ - $  4,415363 $ 4415363 0% $2,902,355 152.13%
1/1/2014 3 - 3 4,170,814 $ 4,170,814 0% 52,673,253 156.02%
1/1/2011 3 - $ 5,857,160 $ 35,857,160 0% 32,670,094 219.36%
1/1/2017 3 - $ 5628381 § 5,628,381 0% $4,230,176 133.05%
1/1/2014 3 - § 4,268,058 $ 4,268,058 0% $3,910,888 109.13%
1/1/2011 b3 - $ 5,374,465 § 5,374,465 0% $3,589,015 149.75%
1/1/2017 3 - 3 238,702 $ 238,702 0% 5 - N/A
1/1/2014 $ - 5 26,665 $ 26,665 0% 5 - N/A
1/1/2011 5 - b3 157,349 $ 157,349 0% 5 - N/A
1/1/2017 5 - $ 10,282,446 $ 10,282,446 0% $7,132,531 144.16%
1/1/2014 £ - $ 8,463,537 $ 8,465,537 %% $6,584,141 128.57%
1/1/2011 £ - $ 11,388,974 $ 11,388,974 0% $6,259,109 181.96%
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PAIMER AND COMPANY
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

40 SOUTH FOURTH STREET
EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA 18042

CARL E. FLEMING, C.P.A. ELLSWORTH C. PALMER, CP. A, RM.A.
KEITH E. FLEMING, C.P.A. (Founder 1937-1965)
SCOoTT R. FLEMING TELEPHONE (610) 258-0401

FAX (610) 252-5040
E-Mail: office@palmerandcompany.net

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Honorable Mayor and Member of Council
City of Easton
Easton, Pennsylvania

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund information, and the
general and debt service funds budgetary comparison statements as of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania, as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated
September 28, 2018. Other auditors audited the financial statements of City of Easton Redevelopment Authority
and Easton Housing Authority, as described in our report on City of Easton's financial statements. This report does
not include the results of the other auditor's testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance and
other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Easton, Pennsylvania’s
internal control ever financial reporting (internal control) to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing cur opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Easton's internal control
over financial reporting,

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
controi such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that might be significant
deficiencies, or material weaknesses. Given these limitations, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's financial statements are
free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Easton, Pennsylvania
September 28 , 2018
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